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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRHE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the
“Group”), | would like to present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting
Period”).

To Asia or even to the world, 2019 is a year full of challenges.
There were still some opportunities in art markets in 2019
although much uncertainties hovered over the global
environment. Reflecting a trend of greater height of
development, the outstanding and quality high-price artworks
enjoyed firm support from the market and artworks by
emerging artists drew more attention. In the first half of 2019,
auctions in Hong Kong, as the center of Asia’s art markets, the
artwork sold reached a total hammer price of USDO0.7 billion in
spite of the market downturn, representing an increase of 4%
as compared with the corresponding period in 2018. In the
second half of 2019, due to the impacts of on-going U.
S.-China trade war and the unrest caused by social movements
in Hong Kong, the numbers of attendees of the autumn
auctions of each auction house decreased relatively.

Facing the external environment full of many uncertainties, the
Group will adhere to our original intention and achieve
diversified development simultaneously. In terms of auction lots,
the Company will constantly enrich the categories of auction
lots to fulfill the diversified preferences of the collectors.
Committing to advocate the exchange between Chinese culture
and Japanese culture, the Group always emphasizes the
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inherence and promotion of Chinese traditional cultures. In
2019, the Company continued to launch auction sessions of
“Important Chinese Ceramics and Works of Art" (fBIEZ &
22 M # 47 fR), “Fine Chinese Modern Paintings and Calligraphy”
(PRI IRAREE) and “Fine Chinese Classical Paintings and
Calligraphy” (Bl H K E2E). Apart from traditional art auction
lots, the Company received enthusiastic responses by launching
auction sessions of “ICHIGO ICHIE — The Art of Tea Ceremony”
(—Hi—2 e EZEE) and auction session”Finest & Rarest
Whisky and Moutai” (¥2# =) which explores the opportunities
of auction lots in tea and wine during 2019 Spring Auction.
Furthermore, in response to the collection of artworks that has
become increasingly prevalent among the younger people, the
Company also continues to introduce the contemporary
artworks, which brings a dash of vibrance to the collections.

The Group also endeavors to expand into Asian and
international market to broaden the network of customers in
addition to increasing the categories of auction lots actively. In
the regions of Asia, Taiwan has a mature art market, enriched
historical background, knowledgeable collectors and abundantly
high-quality art collections that have not been shown to the
market. In August 2019, the Company acquired 34% of all
issued shares of Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd CAEZERE
& BBR/AF) in Taiwan to take the good advantage of
mutual resources of collectors and art collections and enjoy
synergistic benefits. This collaboration is expected to facilitate
the Company to further take root in Taiwan's art market in
order to lay the foundation for the internationalization of the
industry.

Chairman'’s Statement
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Chairman'’s Statement
FREHRE

PROSPECTS

In the early 2020, novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") began to
spread and devastate in the world, many transactions of
important artworks in early spring had been cancelled or
postponed in response to it, therefore shadowed sales markets
of artworks in the global. However, there is a mixed blessing.
The cancellation of the offline auction activities also further
catalyzes the emergency of online auction activities and pushes
the collectors to proactively learn and accept the new form of
online auctions. The Company also uses the opportunity to
accelerate the formation of internet auction platform and
online auction platform, keep up with current developing trend,
integrate platforms and upgrade the techniques to bring the
new experience of multi-scenario auction for all collectors. In
June 2020, the Company launched the first live auction in
Japan, holding different sessions of Chinese painting and
calligraphy, collection series from Kanto book-collector, sutra,
rubbing of inscription, tea ware, scholarly objects, antiques and
ARTS IN LIFE, which started an newly integrated mode of
internet and on-site auctions. As the online auction is without
restriction of place and time, it will become a new trend for
auction, in which the collectors can follow live broadcast to bid,
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in the future. The Group will also grasp the chance to enhance
the numbers and scale of online auctions and introduce
abundant and diversified collections in hopes of meeting the
need of collectors and art enthusiasts who have different
interests and preferences.

In the future, the Group will aim at keeping stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. At the same time, the management will also
keep an eye on the opportunities to cooperate with other
auction companies with a view to developing our business
more rapidly.

Chairman'’s Statement
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Chairman'’s Statement
FREHRE

APPRECIATION

Lastly, on behalf of the Board and the management, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts during the year and to all the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”), investors, clients and
business partners for their continuous support for the Group.

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
Ando Shokei

Chairman

26 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB AR A 7 T

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are a well-recognised auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. We specialize in
auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with emphasis on
Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese paintings
and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and Chinese
tea wares. With over nine years of operating experience in the
Chinese and Japanese art auction industry, we have grown into
a well-recognised and trusted auction brand in Hong Kong and
Japan, through our “Tokyo Chuo Auction” brand. We are
successfully recognized by our customers for the appealing
auction artworks and our quality auction services to establish
the market position, well-known brand name and strong
competitiveness. We take pride in being an auction house with
the ability to explore and introduce the historical and cultural
significance as well as the commercial value of each artwork.

On 11 October 2018, the Company’s shares were successfully
listed (“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. This is a significant step of the milestones
of the Group. Hong Kong, as a world-renowned financial
centre, is also an important hub of arts and culture in Asia. The
successfully Listing in Hong Kong has provided the Company
with a wider platform, which enables us to rapidly and
intensively expand into the Asian and even the global market
and ignites the strong growth engine for the Company’s future
development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group obtained satisfactory
results in each auction session, with an aggregate of 4,190
pieces of auction lots launched in the two auctions in Hong
Kong and one auction in Japan. A total of 2,542 pieces of
which were successfully sold, representing a successful rate of
60.7% and achieved an aggregate hammer price of
approximately HK$300.6 million and JPY2,005.9 million in Hong
Kong and Japan, respectively. The Group is actively developing
other new auction segments to increase the number and
sources of customers and pursue new business opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI wm R AT

In May 2019, the Group launched the 2019 Spring Auction in
Hong Kong, during which 8 sessions were held, including “An
Important Folding Fan Collection from the Han Le Xuan” (ZF#
M EZRABEEY), “Fine Chinese Modern Painting and
Calligraphy” (BT EZE), “An Important Collection of
Fine Chinese Paintings from Takahashi Kouhou"” (@ 17 H A&
EEZRSBEIEEZUWRE), "An Extremely Rare and Important
Collection of Buddhist Sutras” ((EIKIA 1 R 7 A & H 2 1),
offering 988 auction lots, out of which 568 were sold at an
aggregate hammer price of approximately HK$148.7 million. As
always, fineness continued to be the principle of this year's
Spring Auction in Hong Kong, featuring a small number of
superior auction lots which are well-documented art treasures
handed down from generation to generation. In “ICHIGO
ICHIE — The Art of Tea Ceremony” (—Hi—& ¢ X&),
among the tea auction lots, there was a cylinder of pu’er tea,
weighing 2,236 grams, called “A Tong of Fuyuanchang Hao
Pu’er Tea Cakes, 1920" (19204 &t & 5%), which was sold at a
record-breaking price of HK$23.5 million, a new historic high in
tea prices. Meanwhile, the Group actively developed other new
auction segments to increase the number and sources of
customers and pursue new business. For example, there was a
new session called “Art in Life” (“EREMEIT") in the
auction held by the Group in 2019.

In early September 2019, the Group launched the 2019
Autumn Auction in Japan, during which 8 sessions were held,
including “Important Chinese Art — Evening Sale” (K% £
1iT 2 72 %), “An Important Collection of Fine Chinese Paintings
from Takahashi Kouhou” (f/EMITAAEERSREEEZE
W), “Chinese Works of Art” (5 E1¥2 ), “Refined Delightfulness”
(FE#jm &), offering 2,393 auction lots, out of which 1,474
were sold at an aggregate hammer price of approximately
JPY2,005.9 million.

20195658  REBE BB HE H20195FF
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TEAZERSBEBEZWHE)  CERKE
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e SFNEAETHES —WHIRER
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BEFHNENER A(—H— S BEXHE)
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In November 2019, the Group also launched the 2019 Autumn
Auction in Hong Kong, during which 8 sessions were held,
including “Important Chinese Ceramics and Works of Art” (4
BlE B A NREITSH), “Fine Chinese Classical Paintings and
Calligraphy” (F Bl & & E), “Fine Chinese Modern Paintings
and Calligraphy” (B3T3 E &) and specify for “Finest &
Rarest Whisky and Moutai” (2 {EEE), “Art in Life” (B R Z17
#31) and “Fan Collection Owned by Takahashi Kouhou” (H 7%
EERSBEEKBER), offering 809 auction lots, out of
which 500 were sold at an aggregate hammer price of
approximately HK$151.9 million.

In February 2020, the Group postponed its 2020 March Spring
Auction in Japan (the “2020 Japan Spring Auction”) due to
the outbreak and spread of COVID-19. The decision on the
postponement of the 2020 Japan Spring Auction was
concluded based on the concern for the health and safety of
those attending the auction, the impact on the sourcing of
artwork, logistical delay in transit of artwork and the escalating
difficulties for international travel arising out from the outbreak
of COVID-19. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 11 February 2020 for further details.

In order to promptly extend our coverage in other key regions
in terms of Asian artworks and Taiwan has always been a
pivotal area of antiques and artworks capturing a large pool of
collectors and artists. On 1 April 2019, the Company entered
into a non-legally binding memorandum of understanding with
an independent third party in relation to the proposed
acquisition by the Group of 34% of the entire issued shares in
Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd (AEZHERMH BER A A), a
Taiwan-based auction house (the “Proposed Acquisition”). The
Proposed Acquisition was completed on 16 August 2019.
Through the Proposed Acquisition, the management believes
that create synergy for both parties, in further
developing into Taiwan art market and establishing a deeper

it will

cultural network. We believe that the brand of the Group will
gain wider recognition in Taiwan and entire Asia through the
Proposed Acquisition. refer to the section headed
“Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies” below for further details.

Please

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E R am M A

PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLAN

The year of 2019 has been a challenging and promising year
for the Group, and we are determined to forge ahead against
the market. Moreover,
investment tool of collectors and artwork investors around the
world. In this connection, the Group rose up to the market
challenges through continuous amid the hard time, expanding
market and diversifying demands of collectors and clients.

artworks have always been an

The Group has been growing since its establishment and during
the Reporting Period, the successful Listing in 2018 as a
pioneering corporate with emphasis on artworks auction,
expanding from Japan to the entire Asia. At present, it has
established footholds in major cities in Asia with its business
extending from Tokyo to Hong Kong and Taiwan. Moreover, in
order to promptly extend our coverage in other key regions in
terms of Asian artworks and become one of the international
well-known auction houses with Chinese and Japanese art
auction business in the future, we have actively explored
potential customers and consolidated our competitive strengths
in order to broaden the network of the collection community
and facilitate the growth of auction business. In addition, the
Group’s marketing and brand promotion activities are integral
parts of its effort to gain acclaim and build its reputation
among the high net worth individuals in the Asia-Pacific region,
which successfully strengthen brand image of the Group and
raise our brand awareness. Further raising our brand awareness
is to the key success of our future development.

In the future, the Group will aim at keeping stable growth and
development, and continuously uphold its principle of sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for art enthusiasts in the artwork
auction market. At the same time, we shall keep looking for
apposite business partners for collaboration in auction events.
Meanwhile, the management will also cooperate with other
auction companies and consider to make strategic investments
in artworks related business, which can help us to achieve
synergies.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$107.6 million (2019: approximately HK$166.1
million), which represents a decrease of approximately HK$58.5
million or 35.2% as compared to the same period in 2019.
Revenue from art auction and related business was
approximately HK$98.0 million (2019: approximately HK$146.9
million), while revenue from artwork sales was approximately
HK$9.6 million (2019: approximately HK$19.2 million). The
decrease in revenue from art auction and related business was
mainly due to the postponement of the 2020 Japan Spring
Auction as a result of the outbreak and spread of COVID-19.

Gross profit

During the Reporting Period, gross profit of the Group
decreased by approximately HK$50.3 million or 39.8% to
approximately HK$75.9 million (2019: approximately HK$126.2
million) as compared to the same period in 2019, which in line
with the decrease in revenue. The overall gross profit margin
decreased to approximately 70.6% for the Reporting Period
from approximately 76.0% recorded for the same period in
2019. The gross profit margins were approximately 72.9%
(2019: 76.4%) and approximately 47.1% (2019: 72.7%) for art
auction and related business and artwork sales respectively.
Such decrease in overall profit margin was mainly due to
decrease in profit margin in artwork sales.

Other losses, net

Net other losses of approximately HK$460,000 (2019: losses of
approximately HK$4.0 million) was recognised for the Reporting
Period. The losses for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
mainly attributable to the fair value of convertible notes of
approximately HK$4.1 million as one-off expense.

Other income

Other income of approximately HK$14.5 million (2019:
approximately HK$1.8 million) was recognised for the Reporting
Period, which mainly represented the agency service from
demolishment of property located in Japan. In return for such
services, the Group recognised an agency income of
approximately HK$14.4 million for the Reporting Period.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E R am M A

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of employee
benefit expenses paid to the sales and marketing staffs,
advertising and promotion expenses, consultancy fee paid,
transportation costs, travelling expenses, entertainment and
business hospitality expenses. During the Reporting Period,
approximately HK$27.9 million (2019: approximately HK$41.7
million) of selling and distribution expenses were incurred,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$13.8 million as
compared to the same period in 2019, which in line with the
decrease in revenue.

Administrative expense

Administrative expenses mainly represent the employee benefit
expenses, travelling expenses, rental expenses, depreciation and
Listing expenses. the
administrative expenses decreased by approximately 26.3% to
approximately HK$48.7 million (2019: approximately HK$66.1
million). Such decrease in administrative expenses was mainly
attributable to one-off expenses related to Listing of
approximately HK$15.3 million recorded in the same period in
2019.

During the Reporting Period,

Finance income — Net

Net finance income recorded amounted to approximately
HK$748,000 (2019: approximately HK$310,000) for the
Reporting Period. The finance income mainly represents the
interest income from bank deposit and interest income from
certain consignor advance, and finance costs mainly represents
the interest expenses on bank and other borrowings and
interest expense on lease liabilities.

Income tax expense

Profits tax has been provided for our companies in both Hong
Kong and Japan at the applicable rate on the estimated
assessable profits. Effective tax rate was approximately 21.2%
(2019: approximately 19.3%, the effective tax rate was
calculated by income tax expenses divided by profit before
income tax excluding the Listing expenses and fair value loss
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2019) for the
Reporting Period and no significant fluctuation was noted.
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Profit attributable to owners of the Company

During the Reporting Period, the Company recorded a profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$8.4 million (2019: approximately HK$8.6 million). The profit
attributable to owners of the Company during the Reporting
Period remained stable as compared to the same period in
2019.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated resources, banking facilities and net proceeds from
the Listing. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had current assets
of the approximately HK$466.1 million (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$528.5 million) while the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$82.6 million (as
at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$236.5 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$38.8 million (as at 31 March
2019: approximately HK$35.0 million) and of which
approximately HK$38.7 million (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$32.4 million) was repayable within one year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had other borrowings of
approximately HK$358,000 (as at 31 March 2019:
approximately HK$781,000) and of which approximately
HK$272,000 (as at 31 March 2019: approximately HK$422,000)
was repayable within one year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's gearing ratio was calculated
on the basis of the amount of interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents divided by shareholders’ equity, and
the Group was in net cash position (as at 31 March 2019: net
cash position).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no any material capital
commitment (as at 31 March 2019: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E R am M A

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not provide any
guarantees for any third party and had no significant
contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2019: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with an independent
third party in relation to the Proposed Acquisition. A formal
sale and purchase agreement was entered into the Proposed
Acquisition on 16 August 2019 with cash consideration of
HK$8.5 million and completion of the Proposed Acquisition
took place immediately following the signing of such
agreement.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
1 April 2019 and 16 August 2019 for further details.

Save for the above Proposed Acquisition, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated companies
of the Company during the Reporting Period.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopted a prudent strategy towards the treasury
and funding policies, and attached high importance to the risk
control and transactions directly related to the Group’s principal
business. Funds, primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and
Hong Kong dollars, are normally placed with banks in short or
medium term deposits for working capital of the Group.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND FOREIGN CURRENCY
EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operation was mainly
financed by funds generated from its operation, borrowings
and net proceeds from the listing. As at 31 March 2020, the
borrowings were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Japanese Yen, while the cash and cash equivalents held by the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Japanese Yen. All of the Group’s borrowings were floating rate
borrowings and were pledged by bank deposits of
approximately HK$5.4 million to secure such bank facilities
during the Reporting Period. The Group’s revenue is mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Japanese Yen, while its
costs and expenses are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Japanese Yen. As majority portion of the Group's
assets, liabilities, revenues and payments during the Reporting
Period were denominated in either Hong Kong dollars or
Japanese Yen, and in view of the prevailing macro-economic
environment, the Group may be exposed to the foreign
exchange rate risk. The Group will closely monitor the volatility
of foreign exchange rate and apply the appropriate hedging
strategy as and when appropriate.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, bank deposits amounting to HK$5.4
million (2019: HK$20.3 million) was pledged to a bank to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Other than the aforesaid pledged bank deposits, there was no
other charge on assets of the Group as at 31 March 2020.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E R am M A

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 20, 14, 2 and 1 full-time
staff based in Japan, Taiwan and the PRC
respectively. The Group’s remuneration packages are generally
structured with reference to market terms and individual merits.
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all of
its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ base salaries. The Group also
made contributions to provident funds,

Hong Kong,

elderly insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance and work-related
injury insurance in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations in Japan, Taiwan and the PRC respectively. The
Group has adopted a share option scheme on 13 September
2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as a reward to eligible
high-caliber employees and to attract similar high-quality
personnel that are valuable to the Group. No share options
have been granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
Reporting Period.

& & & % Bl B3R
R20206F3A31B - AEERBA-FHE - &
ERPESRIB20E 148 28 M1E 2B E
T AEENTFWESGREL2EMSEARR
BAERBIET - AEERIES B LD F4855%
BEEREEERIREMBEEAERES
E—ERATEHTERENGE - HFHREEE
AFeNBEIEL -ANEB TS HRE A
CRERPEMEREERERELEQRE
® BERE BERRE XERBERIGR
St o NEE D MN2018F9F 138 4 BE A%
T2 ((BIRESTE) URBEaEENES &
EERBRSIHAEEEENHEUEEATL - R
WEHRE SIEREBERET SR HERE-

18 TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2020



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEBHNERRR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (ZEHi#E) (alias Liao Xianggui (EH#E)),
aged 52

Executive Director and chairman of the Board

Mr. Ando is an executive Director and chairman of the Board,
and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director on 11 July 2013 and re-designated as
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Ando is the founder of
the Group. He has over 11 years of experience in operation
and management in the business of artwork trading and over
seven years of experience in operation and management of
auction. He joined the Group in November 2010 as a director
of Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.* (A EHRRFRF—T >
3 ) ("TCA Japan”), a directly non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company in Japan. Mr. Ando is also a director of Bai
Sheng Co., Ltd.* (¥ =\ & #£ & B5) (“Bai Sheng") since
September 2002, where he acquired knowledge in artworks
through artwork trading businesses, gained his experience in
daily company operations management, businesses development
promotion and development strategies planning, and started to
develop his business relationship with artwork artists, masters,
experts, merchants and collectors. Prior to working at Bai
Sheng, Mr. Ando worked at Orient Co., Ltd.* (kX&) T
> IN), a trading company in arts and crafts and home furniture
import and export, from 1995 to 2001 as general manager. He
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics from Dokkyo
University in March 1994. Mr. Ando is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ando is the spouse of Mrs. Ando
Eri. Mr. Ando has an interest in such number of Shares under
Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section headed “Report
of the Directors — Directors’ and chief executive's interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations” of this
annual report.

EFXE
HITES
ERHRIELE (REEHR) 528

HITEEREFSTE
THEILTERPNITESZSRESSEE  AELE
ENBEERBERNBESEEBRER - HR2013
FITANMNBREZERES - WHN2018F5H25
HETANTES - THILERAEBAE M
A HEEBBAT —FHNENMAIHEBLEE
RERKR UHBBALFNHNEXLKEE
MEIR LR - ER2010F1MAMAKRER - &
FARRARIBAREEIEZENB ARG L
RRPRF—T 3 ([TCABER])HNES -
TR A B20F0R8 B MM AR SHE B
(BB MNES UERHBMMESHEBE
BEMMEMAG RBETHEEAREESE -
E¥BEREERRERIBAIINSE  UAKHA
IREEMN @BMK - KA X - B AT
REBREBBER THIETBABEN B
1995F Z2001 F BRI AR A gt A U T N
FRBEE  ZRARAZEEE MM R ITE MR
BEPOMNEBESRA c E1994F3AEER
BHAE DELEELEN -HRAEE
ETHBARMNES RHLIERLTHEELX
TR EB RHELAEREBEREAFRIEZTSR
& —EBEERERTHRABRAQB HEEM
HEOEERRGD - BERMREEZPHER
AR —8HBERFSLBAEGKRAFEXVEBIE
THZEHERMDHOES -

EEHRAEEREAERAF s _B_FEFERE 19



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EZRaREEENRENS

Mrs. Ando Eri (% &) (alias Feng Huijin (/5Z%#)), aged
42

Executive Director and vice chairlady of the Board

Mrs. Ando is an executive Director and vice chairlady of the
Board, and is responsible for client management, promotion of
branding and marketing of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 25 May 2018. She has over nine years
of experience in operation and management of auction.
Mrs. Ando joined the Group in January 2011 as a managing
director, and she was involved in establishing and managing
client relationships. She was promoted to become a director of
the board of TCA Japan in December 2011, and since then she
has been principally responsible for conducting marketing
events, overseeing and reviewing the auction catalogs and
media publications, as well as the overall management of
auctions held by the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Mrs. Ando worked at a catering company in the PRC, from
2000 to 2005 as general manager, responsible for overall
management and operations of such company. She completed
a course in foreign secretary at the Adult Higher Education,
School of Continuing Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University*
(EBRZ@AEB®RAE) in July 2000. Mrs. Ando is also a
director of TCA Japan. Mrs. Ando is the spouse of Mr. Ando
Shokei. Mrs. Ando has an interest in such number of Shares
under Part XV of the SFO as disclosed in the section headed
“Report of the Directors — Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations” of this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (B X /) (alias Ge Wenhai), aged 50
Executive Director and chief operating officer of the Group

Mr. Katsu is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group, and is responsible for the overall operational
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Katsu has over eight years of
experience in operation in the business of artwork trading and
over 7 years of experience in operation and management of
auction. Mr. Katsu joined the Group and was appointed as a
director and vice-president of TCA Japan since February 2012,
and since then he has been principally responsible for the
planning and supervising auctions of the Group, including
managing auction logistics and different working parties such as
decoration companies, security and staff of different
departments of the Group during auctions. He is also involved
in overall strategic development and management of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Katsu was also the sales
manager of Bai Sheng, responsible for artworks purchase and
sales and operations management, from April 2010 to October
2015. He obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EZRaREEENRENS

Mr. Sun Hongyue (¥ /% A), aged 55

Executive Director

Mr. Sun is an executive Director, and is responsible for overall
business development of the Group. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 May 2018. Mr. Sun has over 30 years
of experience in artwork trading and over 20 years of
experience in auction. Mr. Sun joined the Group in December
2015. He has been the general manager of the calligraphy and
painting department of TCA Japan since December 2015,
during which he was involved in authenticating artworks for
visiting consignors and approaching potential
consignors for auction of artworks, and providing consultation
to potential bidders and buyers of artwork.

auction,

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Hanhai
Auction Co., Ltd.* (Ut /B E AR A 7l), an auction
company, from 1994 to 2015 and gained his experience in
calligraphy and painting, auction and artwork trading. Prior to
such, Mr. Sun worked at Beijing Antique Company* (1t R X
Y12 a]) from 1984 to 1994 and was mainly responsible for
sourcing and sale of artworks. He was an apprentice of Mr. Qin
Gong (F72), a renowned Chinese stone rubbing calligraphy
expert, and trained his skills of authentication and valuation of
paintings and calligraphies at Qing Yun Tang (BEZ£ %), a
reputable store in Beijing engaging in the sale of Chinese
calligraphies from 1984 to 1994. In 1986, Mr. Sun completed a
course in cultural relics authentication and valuation organized
by State Administration of Cultural Heritage of PRC (FFE B R
X ¥ /@) in Xi‘an, Shaanxi province, the PRC. During 1989 to
1991, he completed a three year program in museology at a
sub-school of Peking University.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John (#[5 i), aged 51

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chung is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr.
experience in auditing, corporate finance and financial
management. Mr. Chung was an auditor in Arthur Andersen
(an international accounting firm) from 1992 to 1999. From
2000, Mr. Chung has held several senior management positions
including chief financial officer, executive director
independent non-executive director in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is presently a vice
president of Yongsheng Advanced Materials Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3608) since February 2018. Mr. Chung has been
the independent non-executive director of four other companies

Chung has over 20 vyears of

and

listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely B & S
International Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1705) since February
2018; BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (stock
code: 0285) since June 2013; YTO Express (International)
Holdings Limited (stock code: 6123) since December 2017; and
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
3363) since March 2011.

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from
Macquarie University in April 1992. He was admitted as a
certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practicing Accountants (currently known as CPA
Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in February
1996. He is currently a non-practicing member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EZRaREEENRENS

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (#i#%), aged 53

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Lam is an independent non-executive Director. She was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Ms. Lam has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms. Lam has
been appointed as the chief financial officer of Chinlink
International Holdings Limited (“Chinlink”), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0997),
since January 2012. She was the executive director and
company secretary of Chinlink from February 2012 and January
2012 respectively, to April 2019; the executive director of
Jackin International Holdings Limited (currently known as AMCO
United Holding Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 630) from February 2010 to
December 2011; and the financial controller of AMVIG
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2300) from July 2007 to March
2010. Ms. Lam held several management position in private
companies, including vice president of finance and accounting
manager, between June 1999 to February 2006 and between
July 2006 to March 2007. She also held position in various
international audit firms between May 1993 and April 1999.

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from Murdoch
University in February 1993 and a master’s degree in business
administration from the University of Adelaide in April 2006.
She was admitted as a certified practising accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (currently
known as CPA Australia) in November 1995 and an associate of
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently known as the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
September 1996. She is currently a non-practicing member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Chun Chi Man (%¥;8E), aged 60

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Chun is an independent non-executive Director. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
13 September 2018. Mr. Chun has over 20 years of experience
in property industry in PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Chun has
been the General Manager (Leasing) of Century Link from
March 2015 to December 2016, the General Manager —
commercial of The Hub at Hong Qiao from January 2014 to
November 2014, the General Manager of L Development &
Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from September 2010 to
December 2013, the Deputy General Manager of Lai Fung
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1125) from September 2007 to July
2010. Mr. Chun held various managerial positions at Hutchison
Whampoa Properties Limited from July 1995 to July 2005.
Mr. Chun obtained a bachelor’'s degree of Science from
University of Salford at July 1987. He is a member of Shanghai
Chongming District Committee (Consultative Conference).

Senior management

Mr. Chen Jian (BE#), aged 46

Artwork management manager of the Group

Mr. Chen is the artwork management manager of the Group.
He joined the Group in June 2012. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Chen worked at the marketing department in a
state-owned company in the PRC, responsible for conducting
market research and formulating marketing strategies. Mr. Chen
completed a course in applied science from Qingdao Institute of
Chemical Industry* (& &1t T 2FT) (how known as Qingdao
University of Science & Technology* (& & B A E)) in July
1996 and a bachelor’s degree in international economy from
Higashi Nippon International University in March 2005. He
further obtained a master’'s degree in international business
from Kanto Gakuin University in March 2008.
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Mr. Koizumi Jumpei (/R B 3F), aged 30

Tea wares and Chinese ceramics artwork manager of the Group
Mr. Koizumi is the tea wares and Chinese ceramics artwork
manager of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2013. He
has over six years of experience in artworks management. Prior
to joining the Group, from April 2011 to March 2013,
Mr. Koizumi assisted his family in running Koizumi Ancient Art,
Kyoto* (S #B & ET/\ &), an antique shop with over 16 years
of operation in selling antiques including teawares, and
acquired knowledge and experience in authentication and
valuation of Japanese and non-Japanese teawares through
purchasing and selling teawares and exchanging views on
authentication and valuation of teawares with teaware experts.
Since joining the Group in 2013, through application of the
experiences in teawares previously accumulated during his days
in Koizumi Ancient Art, Kyoto* (FR#BH i1/ &) and frequent
participation in our auctions, Mr. Koizumi further enriched his
experience in valuation of artworks by reviewing the appraisal
and auction results of multiple artworks and exchanging views
on market price and industry trend of the artworks with other
artwork experts. Mr. Koizumi obtained a bachelor’s degree in
biology-oriented business and technology from Kindai University
in March 2011.

Mr. Wong Chi Ming ((£Z%8), aged 39

General manager of the Group

Mr. Wong is the general manager of the Group. He joined the
Group in June 2014. Mr. Wong has been the operation and
administration manager of Tiancheng International Auctioneer
Limited from June 2011
assistant manager of Seoul Auction Hong Kong Limited from
May 2009 to May 2011, the operations and administration
officer of Christie’s Hong Kong Limited from August 2004 to
October 2006, and the assistant taxation officer of the Inland
Revenue Department from July 2003 to August 2004.
Mr. Wong completed the professional exhibition management
course (long distance learning course) at Singapore Association
of Convention & Exhibition Organizers & Suppliers in June
2006 and a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
Lingnan University in November 2002.

to June 2014. He was also the
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Mr. Chak Chi Shing (Z& ), aged 39

Chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company
Mr. Chak is responsible for the corporate finance, investor
relations, financial management and company secretarial
matters of the Company. He joined the Group in September
2019. Mr. Chak is also a director of CGU Enterprises Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Chak has been
the independent non-executive director of SDM Group Holdings
Limited (“SDM"), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8363) since May 2019. Prior to
joining the Company, he was the executive director of China
Shenghai Food Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1676), from
December 2018 to September 2019; the company secretary of
Bolina Holding Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1190), from March 2017 to
August 2018 and the chief financial officer and company
secretary of SDM from February 2016 to July 2016. He
obtained a bachelor’s degree of commerce in Accounting and
Finance from Curtin University of Technology in March 2006.
He is a certified public accountant of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountant
Australia. Mr. Chak has over 15 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, corporate finance and financial management and
over three years of experience in company secretarial matter
and corporate governance in listed companies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXRERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is
committed to maintaining good corporate governance
standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Group
to safeqguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the Reporting Period.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Model
Code adoption to the senior management of the Company
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company (the “relevant employees”). No
incident of noncompliance of the Model Code by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company during the Reporting
Period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day responsibility to the executive Directors and senior
management who perform their duties under the leadership of
the chairman of the Board.

The Board currently consists of four executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ando Shokei (Chairman of the Board), Mrs. Ando Eri (vice
chairlady of the Board), Mr. Katsu Bunkai and Mr. Sun
Hongyue; and three Independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley
and Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) (Chairman)
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

Mr. Chun Chi Man

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 19 to 27 of this annual report.

Other than the spousal relationship between Mr. Ando Shokei
and Mrs. Ando Eri, none of the members of the Board is
related to one another.

Chairman

The position of Chairman is held by Mr. Ando Shokei, who
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Term of directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company on 13 September 2018 and the Company
issued letters of appointment to each of the independent
non-executive Directors on the same day. The principal
particulars of these service contracts and letters of appointment
are (i) for a term of three years commencing from 11 October
2018, and (ii) subject to termination by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
The term of the service contracts and the letters of
appointment may be renewed subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the
applicable Listing Rules.

Under the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
directly, and indirectly through its committees,
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. All Directors have full and timely
access to all the information of the Company and may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances for discharging their duties to the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous professional development of directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate. All directors also
understand the importance of continuous professional
development and they are committed to participating any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

As at 31 March 2020, each of the individual Directors has
attending training courses or seminars or read materials
relevant to his/her professional and/or duties as Director. The
individual training record of each Director received for the
Reporting Period is summarised below:
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provided
accredited by
professional Reading
body materials
EEEME
&0 o] B9 P 1R ¢
BE g i 58 #F
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) TEEMELRE (RBBEME) — v
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin) THEELLT(XBFEE) — v
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) B 8EE — \
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEE — v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER k4 v v
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley ORI 2 1 \/ \
Mr. Chun Chi Man ZEeR%EE v V
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Board committees

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of
reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon
request.

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

The attendance record of each Director at these meetings is set
out in the table below:
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Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) THEMELE (XBEME) 10/10 1/1
Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin) THEEEZLET (XA5EE) 10/10 1/1
Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai) BXELEE 10/10 1/1
Mr. Sun Hongyue BB AEE 10/10 1/1
Mr. Yang Chun Hang {9 ¥ % A
(Resigned on 13 September 2019) (F2019F9A13H B F) 77 11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Yang Yi Chung 5 IR % &
(Resigned on 14 May 2019) (FA2019F5 A 148 B 1) 11 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIFEHITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 8 B o A 10/10 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO Ie 2+ 10/10 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man ZRREE 10/10 171
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Audit Committees

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors namely Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley (chairlady),
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Mr. Chun Chi Man. Ms. Lam
Suk Ling Shirley, chairlady of the Audit Committee, possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties
of the Audit Committee include, without limitation, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal; (b) monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements and annual report and accounts, and the interim
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein; (c) reviewing the financial control, risk
management and internal control systems; and (d) developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the

Board.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Reporting
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Independent Non-executive Directors BIFBPITESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John 88 B R A 2/2
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Mr. Chun Chi Man RBREE 2/2
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Remuneration Committees

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John
(chairman), Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man,
one non-executive Director namely Mr. Yang Yi Chung
(resigned on 14 May 2019) and one executive Director namely
Mrs. Ando Eri, a majority of whom are independent
non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
terms of
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee include (a) making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) reviewing
and approving the management’s remuneration proposal with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (c)

reference of the Remuneration Committee are

making recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings to review and ¥ EZE €N BEHBMBIT TRALE  UE
recommend the remuneration packages of the executive MU BMFRATEELSMNEIE A B K FH M
Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period. B iEH - HFMEZE WM E LK ER R
The members of the Remuneration Committee and the HHIEHHEBROT

attendance of each member during the Reporting Period are as

follows:
Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 AE%
25
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Ando Shokei ZROMAE A 212
Non-executive Director FHITESE
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019) 5 4 HR % 4 (FR2019F5 8148 B (T) 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BIARITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EEREE 22
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MORIT 2+ 2/2
Mr. Chun Chi Man ZRREAE 2/2
Nomination Committee REEEE

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, REZZECEIE—ZHNITES  BILHMEL
namely Mr. Ando Shokei (chairman), three independent non- 4 (X FE): = RBUIFHTEE  HEEK L
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam 4  MRBX X+ R EEREE R —RIEWNITE
Suk Ling Shirley and Mr. Chun Chi Man and one non-executive % - Bli5 4 B85t & (2019658148 B E) »
Director namely Mr. Yang Yi Chung (resigned on 14 May

2019).
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) reviewing the structure, size and diversity
(including without limitation, gender, age, and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (d) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman.

cultural

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board. The Company recognizes and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

level

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

where
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate,
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will
consider a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
experience.

review annually the structure,
make

industry

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. At
present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and the Board has not set any measurable
objectives.
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The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and to consider the qualifications of the retiring
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting
and

and to consider recommend to the Board on the

appointment of Directors.
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Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 581K
&5
Executive Director BITESE
Mr. Ando Shokei ZREME L& 1/1
Non-executive Director EPITES
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019) 15 4B S A (FR201995 8148 B L) 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFBPITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER L4 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley ORI 2+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man RARSEE 171

Director nomination policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which
sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for
assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the
following:

o character and integrity;
o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,

knowledge and experience that are
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

relevant to the
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o diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

o requirements of independent non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed
independent non-executive Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules; and

o commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures
and process for the selection and appointment of new Directors
and re-election of Directors at general meetings. During the
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee adhered to the
following nomination procedures and the process set out in the
Director Nomination Policy to select and recommend candidates
for directorship:

(a) Appointment of new director
i. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, the Nomination
Committee should, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

i.  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

ii.  The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate
for directorship, as applicable.
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(b)

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee should
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should make
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting.

recommendation to

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee should review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee should also review and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chun Chi Man
(Chairman), Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John and Ms. Lam Suk Ling
Shirley,
(chairman), and one non-executive Director namely Mr. Yang Yi
Chung (resigned on 14 May 2019).

one executive Director,

namely Mr. Ando Shokei
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The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The principal duties of the
Corporate Governance Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make recommendations to the
Board; (b) to corporate
governance report and related disclosures in the annual and
interim reports of the Group and ensuring compliance with
relevant requirements under the Listing Rules or the rules of any

review and approve the annual

other stock exchange in respect of which the securities of the
Company are listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules
and codes as may be applicable to the Group; (c) to develop
and formalise the functions reserved to the Board and those to
be delegated by the Board to the management of the Group,
and to review those arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure
that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group; and
(d) to make sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in
place to ensure compliance against the relevant internal
controls systems, processes and policies, and in particular to
monitor the implementation of the Group’s plans to maintain

high compliance with its own risk management standards.
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The Corporate Governance Committee met once during the RIFEHHE CEXERZBEERITT —AE
Reporting Period to introduce and propose relevant principles &% AHEHMIEZ2BEBEEEAMNMHERERERI L
concerning corporate governance and to review and determine i RETE D EEAKE
the corporate governance policy.
Attended/
eligible to
attend
2 581K
&5
Executive Director BITES
Mr. Ando Shokei ZREME L& 1/1
Non-executive Director FMITESE

Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019)

15 4 08 58 4 (FR20194E5 4140 BHE)

11

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFBPITES

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John EER L4 1/1
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley MO 22+ 1/1
Mr. Chun Chi Man RARSEE 171

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal regulatory the
compliance of the Model Code and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

and requirements,

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is also responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management system.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has reviewed the risk
management system. The Board considers that the risk
management system is effective and adequate for the Group as
a whole.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no issue relating
to the material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions, of the
Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate
qualifications and experience, resources and budget of its
accounting and financial reporting function, and adequate
training programmes have been provided for the Reporting
Period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been
designed to ensure maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensure compliance of applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed
and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit Committee and
the Board, and will be further reviewed and assessed at least
once each year by the Board.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Group will manage the risk as
follows:

o Risk elimination — management may identify and implement
certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate the risk
entirely.
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o Risk mitigation — management may implement risk mitigation
plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of
the risk to an acceptable level.

o Risk monitoring — accidents and other situations involving
material loss or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage risks.

o Risk retention — management may decide that the risk
rating is low enough that the risk is at acceptable level
and no action is required. The risk will continue to be
monitored as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

The Company has in place an internal control system which
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The key
components of the internal control system are shown as
follow:

o Control environment — a set of standards, processes and
structures are established to provide the basis for carrying
out internal control across the Group.

o Risk assessment — a dynamic and iterative process is
conducted for identifying and analysing risks to achieve
the Group’'s objectives, forming a basis for determining
how risks should be managed.

o Control activities — action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure management mitigates risks in
the achievement of objectives of the Group are carried
out.

o Information and communication — internal and external
communication are made to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring — ongoing and separate evaluations are
conducted to ascertain whether each component of
internal control is present and functioning.
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In addition, the Company regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is
appropriately approved,
information is efficiently and consistently made. The Company
has taken various procedures and measures to prevent a breach
of disclosure requirement, including arousing the awareness to
the Directors and employees to preserve confidentiality of inside
information and disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis.

and the dissemination of such

Internal audit

The Company has not established an internal audit department
and the Directors are of the view that given the size, nature
and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint an independent internal control review
advisor (“Internal Control Advisor”), which is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and consists of professional staff
with relevant expertise, to perform the
management and internal control systems of the Group in
order to meet its needs.

review on risk

The Board itself and through the Audit Committee and the
Internal Control Advisor has conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, which cover all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Internal Control Advisor has conducted interviews with
relevant staff members, reviewed relevant documentation of risk
management and systems of the Group,
evaluated findings of any deficiencies in the systems and
provided recommendations for improvement. The scope and
findings of review on the systems have been reported to and
reviewed by the Audit Committee, who has further reported to
the Board for its review at Board meeting.

internal control

During the Reporting Period, the Group has appointed an
Internal Control Advisor to review the internal control system.
Improvements in internal control and risk management
measures as recommended were adopted. Based on the
findings from Internal Control Advisor, the Board considers that
the internal control system is effective and adequate for the
Group as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 70 to 80.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Reference is made to the non-competition undertakings given
by Mr. Ando Shokei in favour of the Company disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 27 September 2018
("Prospectus”). Mr. Ando has confirmed to the Company that
he has complied with the non-competition undertakings during
the Reporting Period. The independent non-executive Directors
have conducted such review for the Reporting Period, and also
reviewed the relevant undertakings and are satisfied that such
undertakings have been complied with.

AUDITOR REMUNERATION
The Group incurred fees and charge by the auditor,
Pricewaterhousecoopers, in respect of audit services during the

Reporting Period as follows:

Service category

BB %5 12 48
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Fees paid/
payable

Eft &R
HK$

&

Audit service =R
JETET R (M 5E)

Non-audit services (Note)

2,300,000
195,000

Note:

The non-audit services mainly represented the tax advisory and other
services, which provided by the auditor in Japan during the Reporting
Period.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chak Chi Shing, the chief financial officer of the Company,
has been appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
since 13 September 2019.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chak Chi
Shing, the company secretary of the Company, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholder rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

interests and

Right to call a general meeting

General meetings may be convened by the Directors on
requisition of Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings or by such shareholder(s) who made the
requisition (as the case may be) pursuant to Sections 566 and
568 respectively of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening a general
meeting.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholders representing at least 2.5% of the total voting
rights of all shareholders; or at least 50 shareholders (as the
case may be) who have a right to vote at the relevant annual
general meeting, may request to circulate a resolution to be
moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual
general meeting. Written request can be sent by post to the
Company’s registered office address at Room 2601, 26/F Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email at ir@chuo-auction.com.hk.
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Putting forward enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company for putting forward any enquiries to the Board.
Contact details are as follows:

Address:  Room 2601, 26/F Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong (for the attention of the
Board of Directors)

Email: ir@chuo-auction.com.hk

Shareholders are also welcome to make enquiries via the online
enquiry form available on the Company’'s website at
www.chuo-auction.com.hk.
For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must lodge their
questions together with their detailed contact information
(including full name,
prompt response from the Company if the Company deems
appropriate. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

contact details and identification) for

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
Board Committee will attend the annual general meeting to
answer any question.
special general meeting (“SGM") to approve transaction and/or
matter in accordance with the Listing Rules and the corporate
governance procedures of the Company. These will provide
further opportunities for Shareholders to comment and vote on
specific transaction and/or matter. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings.

In addition, the Company will convene

The interim and annual reports of the Company are dispatched
to Shareholders in a timely manner before the time limits laid
by statutory and Listing Rules requirements to ensure effective
communication with Shareholders.
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All the Shareholders are given at least 20 clear business days’
notice before the date of the annual general meeting and at
least 10 clear business days’ notice for all other general
meetings.

All the annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements
and notices of Shareholders’ meetings as required under the
Listing Rules will be available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has also complied with the requirements
concerning voting by poll under the Listing Rules. Details of the
poll voting procedures and the rights of Shareholders to
demand a poll are included in circulars to Shareholders
dispatched by the Company and explained by the chairman of
general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions proposed at
general meeting are voted separately.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles. An up to date version of the Articles is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to

communication

ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December
2018 (the "Dividend Policy”) on payment of dividends. Details
are set out in Report of the Directors.
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The Directors submit herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is a well-recognized auction house of Chinese and
Japanese artworks in Hong Kong and Japan. The Group
specialize in auctioneering a wide variety of artworks with
emphasis on Chinese and Japanese artworks, including Chinese
paintings and calligraphies, Chinese antiques and Japanese and
Chinese tea wares.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the vyear by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Part of the business review as required under Schedule 5 of the
Companies Ordinance is included in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report on
pages 9 to 18 and such contents form part of this Reports of
the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 81 of this report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share (2019: HK2.0 cents), absorbing a
total amount of approximately HK$5,000,000, in respect of the
Reporting Period (the “Proposed Final Dividend”) (2019:
HK$10,000,000), which is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM") of the Company to be held on
Friday, 18 September 2020. The Proposed Final Dividend is
expected to be paid on Friday, 16 October 2020 to all
shareholders whose to be appeared on the register of members
of the Company on Tuesday, 29 September 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
of the Company to be held on Friday, 18 September 2020 or
any adjournment thereof, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 14 September 2020 to
Friday, 18 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company to be
held on Friday, 18 September 2020, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 11 September 2020.

The Proposed Final Dividend is subject to the passing of an
ordinary resolution by the Shareholders at the AGM of the
Company to be held on Friday, 18 September 2020 or any
adjournment thereof. For determining the entitlement to the
Proposed Final
Company will be closed from Friday, 25 September 2020 to
Tuesday, 29 September 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for the Proposed Final Dividend (subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM) all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30p.m.
on Thursday, 24 September 2020.

Dividend, the register of members of the

Tricor Investor

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five year is set out on page 196 of this
report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, which aims to
set out the principles and guidelines that the Company applies
to the declaration and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders. The Company may by ordinary resolution declare
dividends as the Directors consider appropriate. The
determination to pay dividends will be based on the
Company’'s profits, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems
relevant. No dividend shall be payable except out of the profits
or other distributable reserves of the Company available for
distribution. Except as otherwise provided by the Articles or the
rights attached to Shares or the terms of issue thereof, all
dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts
paid up on the Shares on which the dividend is paid. The
Company may pay dividends by any method that the Directors
consider appropriate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the Reporting Period in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Reporting Period in the
share capital of the Company are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the
Reporting Period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, save for the Share Option Scheme
as set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of
this Reports of the Directors, the Company did not enter into
any other equity-linked agreement, nor did any other
equity-linked agreement exist during the Reporting Period.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this Reports of the Directors and Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information about
the Share Option Scheme.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries, were a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 85 of this annual
report and Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2020
calculated under Part 6 of the Companies Ordinance amounted
to approximately HK$49.4 million.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this Reports of the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ando Shokei (alias Liao Xianggui) (Chairman)

Mrs. Ando Eri (alias Feng Huijin)

Mr. Katsu Bunkai (alias Ge Wenhai)

Mr. Sun Hongyue

Mr. Yau Chung Hang (Resigned on 13 September 2019)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Resigned on 14 May 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John

Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley

Mr. Chun Chi Man

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley and
Mr. Chun Chi Man are independent non-executive directors and
were appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ written notice. The
term of appointment shall be renewed and extended
automatically for successive term of one year upon expiry of the
then current term until terminated by either party giving not
less than three months’ written notice to the other.
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Mr. Yang Yi Chung and Mr. Yau Chung Hang resigned as non-
executive director and executive director of the Company on
14 May 2019 and 13 September 2019 respectively. They have
confirmed that they have no disagreement with the Board and
nothing relating to the affairs of the Company needed to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
Mr. Ando Shokei, Mrs. Ando Eri and Mr. Katsu Bunkai are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Other directors of the Company's subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Mr. Chak Chi Shing
Ms. Chu Ching Man
Ms. Peng Kuan Lin

Directors’ service contracts

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
remuneration of the comparable companies, the Directors’ time

contribution, duties and responsibilities and individual
performance as well as the results of the Group.
Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set
out in page 19 to 27 of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which they agreed to
act as executive Directors for an initial term of three years with
effect from 13 September 2018 which may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written
notice. The term of service contract shall be renewed and
extended automatically for successive terms of one year upon
expiry of the then current term until terminated by either party
by giving not less than three months’ written notice.
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During the term of the service contract, each of these executive
Directors is entitled to the basic salary increment (subject to an
annual increment after 1 April 2019 at the discretion of the
Directors of not more than 10% of the average annual salary
for the 12 months immediately prior to such increase).

In addition, during the term of the service contract, each of the
executive Directors is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus in such sum as the Board may in its
absolute discretion determine provided that the aggregate
amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for
any financial year of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
audited consolidated or combined net profit attributable to the
shareholders of the Company (after taxation and minority
interests but
extraordinary or exceptional items) in respect of that financial
year of the Company. An executive Director may not vote on
any resolution of the Directors regarding the amount of
management bonus payable to him/her.

and payment of such bonuses before

Pursuant to the service contract of Mr. Ando, the Group has
purchased two life insurance policies for Mr. Ando so as to
compensate the Group against losses resulting from the loss of
Mr. Ando as a key man to the Group during the term of the
insurance policies, and to serve as a life insurance for Mr. Ando
after the expiry thereof. Under the service contract, Mr. Ando
is entitled to all the benefits and payout under two life
insurance policies upon the expiry thereof.
insurance contracts were expired and terminated during the
Reporting Period.

Such two life

Pursuant to the service contract of Mr. Sun, an apartment in
Japan will be provided for Mr. Sun as staff dormitory by the
Group, and Mr. Sun will bear half of the monthly rental of
such apartment. Such apartment was no longer provided to Mr.
Sun since September 2019.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for an initial term of three years commencing from
13 September 2018, which may be terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ written notice. The term of
appointment shall be renewed and extended automatically for
successive term of one year upon expiry of the then current
term until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ written notice to the other. The appointments are
subject to the provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation
of office of Directors, removal and retirement by rotation of
Directors. Each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to a director’s fee of HK$240,000 per annum. Save for
directors’ fees, none of the independent non-executive Directors
is expected to receive any other remuneration for holding their
office as an independent non-executive Director.

Directors’ and senior management remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Group for
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. The remuneration of each
of the four senior management personnel fell within the band
below HK$1,000,000.

Directors’ interest in transactions,
contracts of significance

Save as disclosed in Notes 34 and 37 to the consolidated
statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Reporting Period or at any time during the Reporting

arrangements or

financial

Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with the definition of section 469 of the
Companies Ordinance, the permitted indemnity provision in
relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance was in
force during the Reporting Period and remains in force as at the
date of this annual report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transaction” and the transactions as
disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries has any contract of significance (including contract
of significance for the provision of services) with the Company
or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management or administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or subsisted during the Reporting Period.

PENSION SCHEME

Details of the pension scheme of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Pension Obligations” in Note 2.25(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group. All directors,
employees, suppliers of goods or services, customers, persons or
entities that provide research, development or other
technological support to the Group, shareholders of any
member of the Group, advisers or consultants of the Group and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to growth of the Group are eligible
to participate in the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option
Scheme will 10 years
commencing on its adoption date. The total number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing
Date (the “General Scheme Limit”). As at the date of this
Reports of the Directors, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 50,000,000
Shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company. The Company may renew the General Scheme Limit
with shareholders’ approval provided that each such renewal
may not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
the Shareholders’ approval. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. Unless approved by the shareholders
of the Company, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being. An
option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
to be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,

remain in force for a period of
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which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option, subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there
is no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme
for the holding of an option before it can be exercised. The
subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; and
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant.
No share options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption and up to the date of this Reports of the Directors.
During the Reporting Period, no share options have been
outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
THE SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2020,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are disclosed under the sub-paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
company or any of its associated corporations” below, no other
persons had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
“SFO").

INTEREST IN
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in shares:

Name of Group
member/associated
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares interest held in

Name corporation Nature of interest interested the Company
AATRKAEN
FEEREAT 2zl
Zm% HEEEZE EnME BREEZRBHE BRLt
(Note 1)
(Pi=E1)
Mr. Ando Shokei The Company Beneficial owner 374,967,278(L) 75%
ZREME LA ZAN/NE] EREAA
Mrs. Ando Eri The Company Interest of spouse 374,967,278(L) 75%
(Note 2)
THEIEL LT ZAN/NE] P 18 4 2 (P RE2)
Mr. Katsu Bunkai TCA Japan Beneficial owner 50 class A shares 5%
(Note 3) S0A% A%R A& 17
B BRL TCAHZR EmEAR A E3)
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Notes:

1. The letter
of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

"L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares

2. Mrs. Ando Eri is the spouse of Mr. Ando Shokei. Under the SFO,
Mrs. Ando Eri is taken to be interested in the same number of
Shares in which Mr. Ando Shokei is interested.

3. These shares represent class A shares in TCA Japan held by
Mr. Katsu Bunkai. Shareholders of class A shares in TCA Japan
do not have any voting right at the general meeting of
shareholders of TCA Japan.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The customers under the art auction and related business
primarily include sellers who consign artworks to the Group for
the auctions and buyers who purchase artworks in the art
To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
customers under the segment are generally comprised of

auctions.

artwork interested parties including artworks artists, masters,
experts,
museums.

merchants, collectors, art galleries and private

The suppliers mainly include sellers from whom the Group
purchase artworks as principal for the artwork sales segment,
property owners who provide venue for artwork preview
exhibition and art auction operation,
organization and accommodation booking services for the

suppliers of event

artwork preview exhibition and art auction operation, suppliers
of photo-taking, printing and delivery services for the auction
catalogs, and suppliers of delivery services for the auctioned
artworks and security and insurance services.
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The information of the customers and suppliers is as follows:
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Percentage of

the total income for
the year ended

31 March 2020
#=202043A318
IEF AW A
Bkt

Five largest customers AREP

The largest customer BRAEPF

17.8%
5.0%

Percentage of the
total purchase and
cost of services for

the year ended
31 March 2020
#=202043A31H
LTEEHEARBER
RIBEAEE L

Five largest suppliers TRHEER
The largest supplier BAHEER

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the
issued shares of the Company had any interest in the five
largest customers or five largest suppliers of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. The related party transactions
set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
constitute connected transactions (as defined under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules) which are fully exempted from the
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and as far as the Directors are aware as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
minimum public float under the Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

The compliance of the controlling shareholder of the Company
namely, Mr. Ando Shokei, of the non-competition undertakings
entered into in favour of the Company on 13 September 2018
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholder of the Company or their respective close
associates are considered to be interested in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the core businesses of the Group.

EMPLOYEES

The number of employees as at 31 March 2020 is set out
under “Management Discussion and Analysis — Employees and
emolument policy” on page 18 of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
strikes or significant labor disputes which materially affected the
operation of the Group. The Group maintained good
relationship with its employees.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no significant event after the end of the Reporting
Period of the Group.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

From the Global Offering

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 11 October 2018 and the Company received
net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting commission and
related costs and expenses) from the global offering of
approximately HK$110.0 million. As at 31 March 2020, the
Company have partially utilized such proceeds in accordance
with the intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the
Prospectus. During the Reporting Period, the net proceeds had
been applied for as follows:
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REBIRBE

KA BRI D F2018F10 A 11 BEB AT EIR
EH AR REERREEMSRBFEARLY
110.08 88T (ENKREHEMAS A RABA A
MFX) - 2020638310 * KRR B KB
RERPHMEENMSRERTARIBHE
RZEMBHRIE - RREEE - MERIBFE
EEAWLT :

Amount Unutilised net
Actual net utilised as at proceeds as at
proceeds 31 March 2020 31 March 2020
1£2020%3A31H
BERFRE 1202043A318 i K ) A B9
RIEFHE g A EE FBRIEFE
(HK$ million) (HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(BE&AT) (B8 T) (A8#ET)
Strengthening and expanding M REFRERE
existing auction business E3 62.7 13.1 49.6
Enhancing marketing and INeE & i R EEE
promotional activities 22.0 10.9 1.1
Recruiting high caliber managers and HBESEZHEEA
experts TREXR 8.8 1.9 6.9
Developing the Group's ERP system — FZAREBE D
BRHE R 5.5 — 5.5
Supplementing the Group's working  # 78 AN £ [ /) & 8
capital and for general corporate B RE—RAA
purposes R 11.0 11.0 —
110.0 36.9 73.1

As at the date of this annual report, the Company does not
anticipate any change to the above plan of use of proceeds.
The remaining unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2020 are
expected to be fully utilized on or before 31 March 2021.
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From the issue of the convertible notes

In April 2018, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with six independent investors in relation to their
subscription of the convertible notes totaling approximately
HK$38.8 million. The outstanding principal amount of these
convertible notes shall be automatically and mandatorily
into fully paid shares of the Company upon
successful initial public offering in recognized stock exchange
in the subscription

converted

according to a formula prescribed
agreements. All of the convertible notes were converted into
28,512,722 ordinary shares on 11 October 2018. For details,
please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganization and
Corporate Structure — Pre-IPO Investments” of the Prospectus.

As at 31 March 2020, the net proceeds had been applied for as
follows:

REETURBRER

F2018F 48 A RBIEANEZBILIRE AF L
REHZ NAEEERBIRREES HL
388EBETL BERBHEMRENAN
ZEBRBREBROERTEASBERAR
AIERITBRERGHEBAKD AREERA
PR ERAERNARMERD - FTA ATRK
ZE P R2018F10811H E# 528,512,7228%
TER-FEBRLHBRERIEL EAR
NAIRE — BR R FAEERRE] o

2020 3A31H MERIBFRENFEHREBENR
N

Amount Unutilised net
Actual net utilised as at proceeds as at
proceeds 31 March 2020 31 March 2020
7220205
7220204 3A3182
BN 3A318 2 KENA
iR RIEFE EBHRALE MEREFHE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
AEBTT BEAETT BEETT
Fund the capital expenditures B A& B & K
and working capital of the X REBES
Group 38.8 38.8 —

As at the 31 March 2020, the Group had utilized the entire
amount of the proceeds from the issue of the convertible
notes.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company has
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. It comprises
three independent non-executive Directors namely Ms. Lam Suk
Chung Kwok Mo John and

established an audit committee in

Ling Shirley (chairlady), Mr.
Mr. Chun Chi Man.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management of the
Group the accounting principles and standards adopted by the
Group, and discussed auditing,
reporting matters including the review this annual report and
the audited annual financial results of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

internal control and financial

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Company.

DONATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable
donations in the amount of approximately HK$121,000.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the
Group is included in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements and such contents form part of this Reports of the
Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to environmental protection and values
corporate social responsibilities. The Group continues to update
internal policies and programs for environmental risk prevention
to ensure compliance with requirements of applicable industrial
and local standards, laws, regulations and policies. The Group
also continues to implement environmental protection, energy
projects to improve
setting a solid foundation for

and emission reduction
management,

better future development.

saving
environmental
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ACCOUNT OF THE GROUP KEY RELATIONSHIP
Employees

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resource management is to
high-performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal
system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by offering appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career
advancement.

reward and recognise

Suppliers

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Reports of the Directors for details of the
suppliers of the Group. Sound relationships with suppliers of
the Group are important for the Group’s business, which can
derive cost effectiveness and long term business benefits.

Customers

Please refer to the paragraph headed “Major Customers and
Suppliers” in this Reports of the Directors for details of the
customers of the Group. The Group has the mission in sourcing
excellent artworks with good provenance to explore and collect
more valuable artworks for auction by its customer whilst
maintaining long term profitability and business growth. Various
means have been taken to strengthen the communications
between customers and the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on the Group in all material respects.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code of provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board has reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance practices and is satisfied that
the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code during the Reporting Period.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTION
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code. After specific
enquiry made by the Company, all of the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code and the code of conduct of the Company
governing Directors’ securities transactions during the Reporting
Period.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

On behalf of the Board

Ando Shokei
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020

Reports of the Directors
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To the Shareholders of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Tokyo Chuo Auction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) set out on pages 81 to 195, which comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2020;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:
o Revenue recognition
o Impairment of consignor advance and prepayments to

sellers for auctioned artwork

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 7 1% BURD 3 &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 N 1% BURD &

Key Audit Matter
P S EIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR S ETHIE

Revenue recognition
W X\ TER2
Refer to note 2.22 and note 6 to the consolidated

financial statements.
F2HE MM HRERMTE2.22 X 176 ©

The Group recognised revenue from art auction and
related business of HK$98.0 million for the vyear
ended 31 March 2020.

ESEEREE2020F3A3 A LFEAEMARER
HAZBERRABOBE BT -

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s key
internal controls and revenue recognition process over art
auction and related business.

BMETH FERkiglEREHENmBE RIEHEE
BHERABEE R AERIZF -

We attended selected auctions held during the year to
check the hammer price of the auction sales on a
sample basis.
BME2EFALETHES UMK TXNREHEH
ERENEE -
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Key Audit Matter
&S 2R

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 7 1% BURD 3 &

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET R B S ETEIE

We considered revenue recognition for art auction and
related business as a key audit matter as it is
quantitatively significant to the consolidated income
statements and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
BABENRHEREEEGNRARRRRER
FAFEE ARHEHBR LUaHERRIEHES
WaEzMSBERK -

We checked the commission income from auctions and
other auction related income on a sample basis by
agreeing the hammer price to auctioneers’ record and
the commission rates for buyers and sellers to respective
invoices, bank receipts and other relevant evidence. We
checked the calculation of the commission income on a
sample basis by multiplying the hammer price with the
relevant commission rates for buyers and sellers.
BPABES A REREN A WA REMAEHEK
AN AERBHERCHRESHEREZEE TN E
FEZAMNBER RITWEREMEBRBREE TS -
BAAMBEA RN RERESWANGTE  FEAREEMRE
HEFETNHEBATERER-

We compared other commission income and other
auction related income such as service income from
catalogue preparation to the relevant invoices, bank
receipts and other relevant evidence on a sample basis.
BAFIA T 2 - S H B & U AT E b 48 = AR B U A
(PIanmRHESMEREEA) BEERESRE  RITHIER
Hi BB IELE -

We tested completeness of the auction lots sold by
reconciling auctioneers’ records on auction lots sold to
the items recorded in the sales register on a sample
basis.

BRAEEAN  BRHERCENCEHNEmLLHHE
ZM RSB M AR E TR -

We found the sales transactions being tested were

supported by appropriate evidence.
BMERKAZNEERZIHAESENREMFF o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter
FE S EIR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET AR B S ETHIE

Impairment of consignor advance and prepayments to
sellers for auctioned artwork
ZAABRNRERREHESRNMoAEREMOHRK
HH)RE

Refer to note 2.14, note 3.2, note 22 and note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
FLEAHMBRRWNE2.14 - WiE3.2 - MaE22 &K
FE23°

As at 31 March 2020, the balance of consignor
advance and prepayments to sellers for auctioned
artwork was HK$86.3 million and HK$79.7 million,
respectively, which represented 17% and 16% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 March 2020,
respectively.

M2020F3A31H0  ZFEABNRERR S HERN
mABEBRANORIBZ &9 5 R863BE B TR
797A8ET phlE EEBER202063A31HAE
EM17%K%16% °

Consignor advance
ZAABNHE

The Group provides certain collectors and art dealers
with advances with artwork held under the Group’s
custody. If the consigned artwork is sold in auction,
the proceeds received from the buyer, after deducting
commission, consignor advance, interest and relevant
taxes, will be paid to the consignor. If the artwork
under custody remains unsold, the consignor will be
required to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under custody is
returned to the consignor.

EEEN EEEFEMFANENm@E TRR R
BTARIEARMBENTIE - IR ZFEZEMBNHA
BERELH RERMGZASERE(KHKAS &
FEATRNIE - FERBEAHE) SE8XNTEEA -
MRFAEZBMBINAEL  EXAEFLEEMN MR
BIEFEAR - BABERMNKBCERFNE - 0F) -

We understood, evaluated and tested management'’s key
internal controls relating to the approval process of
granting consignor advance and prepayments to sellers
for auctioned artwork.

BMETH FHkRAEEEEHEKXEMETAENRN
HERRERE Z1M [ B R BN A RIBER BRI PR
RN B R o

We discussed with management on the nature and
judgement involved in their assessment on the
recoverability of individual significant balances for
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by considering the credit history and
worthiness of the consignors and sellers and
corroborated their explanations with supporting
evidences to evaluate whether specific provision should
be made.

REBZFARBEZRNGEELHEREEE HMEER
BREFABNTERREREZENMAERENHK
EMB L EREROATKEN  SmKENTERED
WMERAE REERENBEGA IR - AT
BROEFTEELETNREE -

We checked, on a sample basis, the approval of
consignor advances and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork by tracing to agreements and
payment records.

BB RmEREHE RN REHEAMEZTEARNRK
BERREHEEMRAMEBRAMNNOKIE L FI -

We obtained the full list of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork, and
checked, on a sample basis, whether these advances and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork are
supported by the artwork under the custody of the
Group.
BPRGEEXARNRELRNEHEZMmAEREARN
WHRENTEBERUMET A REZEEZTEARMNRK
BRMEHEENRMERRANNRERSAEN M
B BEEEEE-
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Key Audit Matter
g S EIR

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 7 1% BURD 3 &

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB ET iR B ST HIE

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
B E 70 & B dn /7] B 5 78 17 #9 :0H

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork represent
the amounts advanced to sellers of auctioned artwork
before receiving full payments from relevant buyers.
Amounts may be advanced to sellers prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers and the Group will keep the related
auctioned artwork under its custody. Prior to receiving
full payment of the auction purchase prices from the
relevant buyers, the Group reserves the right to
request repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to replace
another artwork with estimated value no less than the
prepayments to the Group.
HREHEBNmMERBENORBERRAANEBE
RYBMEMBEENmEHEREMBANTERZERE -
CHAENAKIERAERZE XN HEBEED
FEMBANTER - E£EESREHECEHEZR
MmBEHEFEE RNWIERERTEXNHEREERE
MHIER ESEERBERBERERCHENRES
MIENRIE  HBKERER S -BHEEBEMGFT D
Rr BEEEEENENREBEZENm -

The Group established policies to ensure that
advances are made to consignors and sellers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group assesses the
credit worthiness of its consignors and sellers as well
as considering prior transaction history with these
consignors and sellers.

EEEFARRUERENKREDIREELHKRS
MEFTARBEREL M EEETHEEZEFARE
FNEEE WTZRZEZTARERNXHES -

We assessed, on a sample basis, whether the artwork
under the Group’s custody was in good condition by
attending the physical count of the artwork.
BMABFERY BESERXENSENR  UAHBEAFR
FHEBATmER MR R T -

We obtained and reviewed, on a sample basis, the
valuation assessments for the artwork under the Group's
custody prepared by the internal artwork appraisal team.
We inquired of the internal artwork appraisal team
about the factors they considered in their assessments
and compared the assessments by referencing to the
recent market prices for similar artwork on a sample
basis.

BAATVA BT IS & T B B A AR T an 28 F B B
o BESEERENBMmMAETZEENME - ZMEA
HEMmETEFARREFLETHEMEENEAEZRSZ
ZROBMme AT ENBET LB ZEFT -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter
PSS EIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BFMEINMEEMARETBIE

Management has applied HKFRS 9 and conducted an
assessment of expected credit losses relating to the
consignor advance and prepayments to sellers for
auctioned artwork. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from these advances and
prepayments is not significant after considering the
credit history and worthiness of the consignors and
sellers as well as the market value of the relevant
artwork held by the Group.

ERECEREABUBHRELNFEIRERHAETARE
NREEREHEEMmAEREMNAORIBETE
HEEBENTG KEZREZFXARBRNEELHE

REEBENLE EXERFANHEBEENRODHE
% EEBERRERITAENRELRREHERMR

AERBNNFENEERRY TEKX -

The Group’s internal artwork appraisal team has
assessed and evaluated the market value of the
artwork under its custody based on the recent market
prices of similar artwork so to determine if the
amount of allowance made is adequate.

EEENANEMmETEFEREEIEN DD
TS ERHERTENBMRN M5 EEETH
ERIEE UEBEEMIEZBERERH -

We identified impairment of consignor advance and
prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and because the
judgement exercised by management in determining
an appropriate level of loss allowances for these
advances and prepayments involves assessment on
creditability of consignors and sellers as well as
estimation of the market value of artwork under the
Group’s custody, which can be inherently uncertain.
BABNEXARMNRELRAEHEENRAER
BNNFENRERBERENFE BREUNSH
MBERREEEATEEEEERETZEERTA
BENRELREHEEMmMEREMNORIBEE
BENERBEERRELNHEB S ETIEETARE
ENEREUAKLGEET EXEEFXENEMROTSE
B HAXE LA AB THEEMN -

We evaluated, on a sample basis, management’s
assessment of the values of artwork under the Group’s
custody based on the valuation assessments performed
by the internal artwork appraisal team. We discussed
with management on the means of realisation of the
artwork under the Group’s custody and the expected
cash flows to be recovered from the artwork,
compared the carrying value of the consignor advance
and prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork with
the value of artwork on a sample basis.
BIBAIEMBETEBETHEE  HMARBEEATR
HEEEEY SEEEFEENEWMaOEENTME &
MEEREEN®m EXEEFEENEMmER REABHHH®
ZEBMBWEREREN TR UEABETRBE
AARNRELRAREHESMmABEREAMNORIE LK
EHERBMmOEEELLER-

and

We compared,
settlement of the consignor advance as at 31 March
2020 with bank receipts or other relevant documents.
BT A BT X5 7020205331 B £ AR RIED
HEEERRITWIRSEMAE X ERLER -

on a sample basis, the subsequent

Based on our work performed, we found that
management’s estimates and judgment were supported
by available evidence.

BREZRMABTHIE RARREEENMET RAEGS
AT BB 55 °
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

information.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
knowledge obtained

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

statements or our in the audit or

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

The directors of the Company are
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

responsible for the

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
18 7 1% BURD 3 &
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 N 1% BURD &

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

influence the economic

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

HZPWER SHEHMBRRBEERESTE
T£ B 70 AR RF S 85 AR T 8 B A B K85 SRR A B
SEERE  LHASRBMER A0 Z AR
o &k FIE &R R F B(R A & B 5E405(F
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Kin Wah, Albert.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

A = 24
SHEZRE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
B E20204°3A31B L E
Note
B 5
Revenue PN 6
Costs of services AR 7 AKX A 9
Costs of sales of goods B o iHE AR 9
Gross profit EH
Other losses, net H B8 )5 & 7
Other income H AU A 8
Net impairment losses on financial & &t & = &l (B & 18
assets = 9
Selling and distribution expenses % & 2 #5512 9
Administrative expenses TR X 9
Operating profit EERF
Finance income B 1 A 10
Finance costs B 75 B AR 10
Finance income, net BB A F &R 10
Share of net profit of associate S —FEBE AR 2
accounted for using the equity Fom A AR
method gAY R 18
Profit before income tax B B 1% %5 A i F
Income tax expense FTE B X 11
Profit for the year EEiEH
Profit/(loss) attributable to: UT&BREL@ET,
(B548) :
Owners of the Company ZAN/NISIE RSN
Non-controlling interests eI AR
Earnings per share for profit AAT R NELiE
attributable to owners of FeskER
the Company
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREE B 12

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2020
20204E
HK$°000
FH#Ex

107,589
(26,594)
(5.058)

75,937
(460)
14,497

(3,789)
(27,918)
(48,687)

9,580

2,195
(1.447)

748

133

10,461
(2,219)

8,242

HK1.69 cents
1.697# 1ll

2019
20194
HK$'000
TR

166,091
(34,668)
(5,242)

126,181
(4,043)
1,836

(1,194)
(41,717)
(66,075)

14,988

582
(272)

310

15,298
(6,677)

8,621

8,632
(an

8,621

HK1.99 cents
1.997 11l

A 9 26 2% E BB I S — DO E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A = A =&

(= 'ﬁ‘,l: .%"F (=) l‘l& Im iE&
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
HE20206F3A31HILEFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss
Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Total comprehensive income for the
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THEIT
EEHH 8,242 8,621
HihmalAN(EBE) :
HEAgeEF o BEEBEN
18 B
HNEE T B = KR (1,872)
FEHMBGEAEKRAN
(B518) 4858 - HORRBIIE (1,872)
FEZESWMANER
6,749
UTEFELEEZS
W N\ E2%E -
ZIN/NEI RSN 6,887
JE 125 {7 (138)
6,749

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — _F it & ff4x & Uk a5 7 FE B8 BE B BT 31 — GE 3938 o
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

EHEEERE

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

7202043 A31H
Note
Bt 5

Assets &aE
Non-current assets kRBHEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% BB K& B 15
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16
Intangible assets BEE
Investment accounted for using FEREREEYR

the equity method ®E 18
Financial asset at fair value BRATEFAERZ

through profit or loss TREE 19
Deferred income tax assets BEFSHEE 20
Deposits and prepayments e R FHIE 23
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 21
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E b fE W KIE 22
Deposits and prepayments e kBN KA 23
Tax recoverable CIEqERiRE
Pledged bank deposits EHEFRITER 24
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFED 24
Total assets HEE
Equity #x
Equity attributable to owners EATIHERAEN

of the Company i
Share capital g 7R 25
Reserves 1 26
Non-controlling interests FEERELS
Total equity gD

2020
20204
HK$'000
FHT

53,858
232,899
91,290

5,443
82,577

466,067

512,085

169,730
110,179

279,909
4,160

284,069

2019
20194
HK$'000
FAET

10,942

590

10,943

22,476

20,898
225,367
14,841
10,599
20,300
236,522

528,527

551,003

169,730
110,556

280,286
6,602

286,888
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020

720203 H31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 TFi#&xT FHE T
Liabilities Bi&
Non-current liabilities EREERE
Other payables H At & T 5RIB 28 1,454 6,884
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 16,129 —
Borrowings & ™ 27 186 2,962
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMER A% 20 2,596 2,574
20,365 12,420
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables and B 5 & B h FE A 518
accruals kIEETER 28 153,192 213,301
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 6,850 —
Borrowings & & 27 38,927 32,861
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHRAaE 8,682 5,533
207,651 251,695
Total liabilities BEEE 228,016 264,115
Total equity and liabilities ExREEEHA 512,085 551,003

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in it &GrEE R ERELREW T — HRI:E -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 195 were $81E 1958 2 & (3 # HR K M 2020566 5268
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and were HEEZ=eH &V HAATEETREERE -
signed on its behalf.

Ando Shokei Ando Eri
=R ZREHE
Director Director
EZE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EHERE IR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

# £20204°3A31B IEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
AATHEE ANEL
Share Other Non-
capital reserves Retained controlling
(Note 25) (Note 26) earnings Sub-total interests Total equity
[:2:3 H it Gk
(B sE25) (Pt 5¥26) REBEFH e FEEERRHELS HEmABE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THET FHET FHET THET
Balance as at 1 April 2018 #20185F4A1H K
“ep — (45,381) 149,050 103,669 6,740 110,409
Comprehensive income/(loss)  #Z&W A, (E5ig)
— Profit/(loss) for the year — FEmA(FE) — — 8,632 8,632 (11) 8,621
Other comprehensive loss HivzaEsE
— Currency translation differences — NI & =58 — (1,745) — (1,745) (127) (1,872)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EEHZE(BE)
income for the year oL ] — (1,745) 8,632 6,887 (138) 6,749
Conversion of convertible notes  #§ AT 2R ZEE R A
to ordinary shares (Note 25) L m AR (P 5E25) 42,726 — — 42,726 — 42,726
Issuance of ordinary shares BUTEBENAR
relating to initial public offering,  Z & )& @Bk
net of underwriting commissions  (31BR B85 M & &
and other issuance costs EH M BATRA)
(Note 25) (B 3£25) 127,004 — — 127,004 — 127,004
Balance at 31 March 2019 1R201943A31HH
e 169,730 (47,126) 157,682 280,286 6,602 286,888

Balance as at 1 April 2019, as  20195E4A1H#

originally presented #HR(REEF) 169,730 (CYAPI)) 157,682 280,286 286,888
Change of accounting policy BHBRED

(Note 2.2) (M &%2.2) (526) (526) (526)
Balance as at 1 April 2019, #20195F4R18 B

as restated #EREET) 169,730 (CYAPI)) 157,156 279,760 286,362
Comprehensive income/(loss)  #ZHZ&W A, (Eig)
— Profit/(loss) for the year — FERM/(EE) 8,444 8,444 8,242
Other comprehensive income  H i & A

— Currency translation differences — SMNES 7 & =58 977 985

Total comprehensive income/ EEHZHEWN
(loss) for the year (B518) 4848

Transaction with non-controlling ~ EE3EIEEHER X 5

interest (Note 26(ii)) (P E26(i) ) 728 728 (2,248)
Final dividend declared and paid 2 &R % 37 {4 8 K H3
e (10,000) (10,000)
Balance at 31 March 2020 202038318 )
“es 169,730 (46,149) 156,328 279,909 284,069

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should it & G4 &= & B) 5% FE B BB Y BT s — GFBAAE o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHAEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
HE20206F3A31HILEFE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 TER FHET
Cash flow from operating activities EZEFHZIMEFTE
Cash (used in)/generated from EEE (FTA),/
operations FT1838 & 30(a) (155,151) 42,916
Income tax refunded/(paid) BiR B (Bf)
T8 %4 10,471 (28,500)
Net cash (used in)/generated from wEEEY (A
operating activities FiRREFH (144,680) 14,416
Cash flow from investing activities BETHZHERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BEK
equipment B (578)
Purchase of intangible assets BERLEAE (104)
Purchase of financial asset BETRMEE —
Payment for investment in an associate =~ —REt& QAR EHN
IR 18 —
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREBERIRITER (20,300)
Release of pledged bank deposits R EBPIRITER —
Investment in key management life TEEBEASR
insurance contracts e RE (814)
Termination of key management life RIFFTZEEREAS
insurance contracts REE 4 6,187
Transaction with non-controlling BIEERERR S
interests 26(ii) —
Repayment from a related company —H@EEAFMER 14,716
Interest received 2 A 582

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

BRETHHRET
(AR FHE

(311)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EHRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

#HE202043A31B ILFE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
Cash flow from financing activities RMETHZHRERE
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE 30 (7,525) —
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITE RFTISRIB 30 47,263 31,788
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBITERK 30 (43,955) (44,049)
Interest paid 2 F A (500) (453)
Payment of listing expenses Xt EmAX = (7,984)
Dividend paid BETRE (CR:L)) —
Proceed from issuance of convertible BT MRERZ
notes P 1S IR 38,800
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary 1T H R & X AR
shares relating to initial public ERE B FTIF
offering RIAF R 137,145
Net cash (used in)/generated from RMEFEEH (A
financing activities FMER&FE (14,614) 155,247
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HeRBREEEY
cash equivalents (D), g (154,766) 169,352
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#E & kE &
of the year EEY 236,522 70,382
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash IR& MRS EEWE
equivalents Hlas (EE) 821 (3,212)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FXREERIAZ
the year ZED 24 236,522

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& I B R M A

88

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong.
The address of the Company’s registered office is Room
2601, 26/F, Wing on Centre, No. 111 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries principally engage in the provision
of auction and related services as well as artwork sales in
Hong Kong and Japan.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollar (“HKS$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(b) Historical cost convention (b)
The financial statements have been prepared

on a historical cost basis, as modified by the

financial asset at fair value through profit or

loss, which is measured at fair value.

(c)

B OF 75 R B R

EBLREE

B MERTIRE L AN E R R
B BIBANFEFENRAF
B ABRZERMEEER °

XEFFTHRPF T RAENEETE
Al

AEBER2019F41HHEBERN
FEHRE IR RN T 52

New and amended standards adopted by (c)
the Group
The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 April
2019:
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments
HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
(Amendments) Negative Compensation
HKFRS 16 Leases
HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
(Amendments) Curtailment or Settlement
HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
(Amendments) Associates and Joint
Ventures
Annual Annual Improvements
improvements 2015-2017 Cycle
project

B MAERT A -

% (BE TS ERIE 2
BREZRE THEE
Z8g)—

REFE23N

EAMBERE ABaWEZ
% Bl 9% &1 5008
(BETX) SR

EAMBRE ME
Z BRI FE165%

EREER  FEBIT-
1955 (& TR B
HE:N)

ERAEEL RBEQFAR
285 (& B ER
HE:N) REAER

FEMHEEE 2015FF

2017 B
B F E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB RRME

2

20

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
(c) New and amended standards adopted by

the Group (Continued)

The Group had to change
policies as a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The
Group elected to adopt the new rules
retrospectively but recognised the cumulative
effect of initially applying the new standard on
1 April 2019. This is disclosed in note 2.2.
Most of the other amendments listed above did
not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

its accounting

2
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(d) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted

The following are new and amended standards
have been issued but not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1 April 2019 and
have not been early adopted by the Group:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after

RT3 BN Z2EFRS
B £F B HA R A& 3

(d) R FETE R R 2 FE

T3 FEE] RIS ETERE B
BR201954 51 H 14 ) BF B
FEEMAER BAEBEL &
REREM :

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

ERGTERNB IR LRES
FETERIFESH (BRI A)

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9 (Amendments)

BB G ERE3NE B
B S LRI SET79E R B
78 B 7 R 5 Y B 2958
CCHEN)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

BB EERFE3IR
CCHEN)

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

2018%F E B B s = eV L
RS

HKFRS 17

ERT B HmEEAFE1THR

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

FEMBHREERF105%
K& B & ERIE2857
(BRI A)

Definition of Material
BARAMEE
Hedge accounting

b eEt e

Definition of a Business

EBOER

Revised Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting

RETVBRENHRER

Insurance Contracts

REE R

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

REEHRHABERNRRKEEDLEL
MEELESTA

1 January 2020
202061 HA1H
1 January 2020

202051 A1H

1 January 2020
202061 A1H

1 January 2020
202061 A1H
1 January 2021
20211 A18

To be determined by
HKICPA

RFEBEMAE
B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ey

(d) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)
These new standard and amendments to
standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

The Group does not intend to early adopt
these standards before their respective effective
dates.

This note explains the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 16 Leases on the Group’'s financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 “Lease”

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has
adopted HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from
1 April 2019, but has not restated comparatives for
the 2019 reporting period, as permitted under the
specific transition provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening consolidated balance sheet on 1 April
2019.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had
previously been classified as “operating leases”
under the principles of HKAS 17 Leases. These
liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April
2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on
1 April 2019 was 0.52% to 4.28% per annum.
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HKFRS 16 “Lease” (Continued)

(1)

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the
Group has used the following practical
expedients permitted by the standard:

o applying a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics;

° relying on previous assessments on
whether leases are onerous;

o accounting for operating leases with a
remaining lease term of less than 12
months as short-term leases;

o excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at
the date of initial application; and

o using hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options
to extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains a lease at
the date of initial application. Instead, for
contracts entered into before the transition
date the group relied on its assessment made
applying HKAS 17 and Interpretation 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& OF B 7% R R Y 5

2

94

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2 FEEBEBEE

22 BHBRSH(H)

HKFRS 16 “Lease” (Continued) BEEUFHREE B 165 HE ]
(%)
Measurement of lease liabilities (i) HEEBEAREE
2019
2019
HK$'000
FAT
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at ~ $2019F3A31H EEH
31 March 2019 et E R 13,092
Less: discounted using the lessee’s B AR YR ER A H
incremental borrowing rate at the date of A B BB KA X
initial application BLIR (5,023)
Add: adjustments as a result of a different o ERE A R AR LR A
treatment of extension and termination BRI R E
options EEES 21,476
Less: short-term leases recognised at B IREREERRR
straight-line basis as expense AxHEREE (372)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019 2019548 1H E R H
HEAE 29,173
Of which are: Ho a4
Current lease liabilities mMEEERE 6,451
Non-current lease liabilities FERBHEERRE 22,722
29,173
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HKFRS 16 “Lease” (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets for property
leases were measured on a retrospective basis
if the new rule had always been applied. There
were no onerous lease contracts that would
have required an adjustment to the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application.

Adjustments recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet on 1 April 2019

The change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the consolidated balance
sheet on 1 April 2019:

o Prepayments — decrease by HK$342,000
o Right-of-use assets  — increase by
HK$28,258,000

o Lease liabilities — increase by
HK$29,173,000

° Deferred tax assets
HK$213,000

— increase by

o Other payable — decrease by HK$518,000

The net impact on retained earnings on 1 April
2019 was a decrease of HK$526,000.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(iv) H2019F4F18EEHEER

1B 2% A B8 1 55 &

20194810 » €t REE

B ENTAHEEABRRNA

®IE B

e BWHRHHZHE — B D
342,000 7T

e FEHAEEE — #£m
28,258,000/ 7T

e WERME — &M
29,173,0005% 7T

e EEBEEAE — HBM
213,000/ 7T

e HMENKEA — B
518,000/ 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB RRME

926

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated balance sheet
respectively.
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(b) Associates

(c)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (c) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in the consolidated income
statement, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint ventures
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(d)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss
of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of a
loss of control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in consolidated income
statement. This fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised
in the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the
consolidated income statement or transferred
to another category of the consolidated
statement of changes in equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.
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Investments in subsidiaries and associates are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes
direct attributable costs of investment. Cost also
includes capital contribution relating to Equity
Incentive Scheme for investments in subsidiaries. The
results of subsidiaries and associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as executive directors
of the Group that makes strategic decisions.
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(a) DIFERZINER

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings and cash and bank balances are
presented in the consolidated income
statement within ‘other losses, net’.
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(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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The Group invests in certain key management
insurance contracts, which contain both investment
and insurance elements. The life insurance contracts
are initially recognised at the amount of premium
paid, and subsequently measured at each balance
sheet date at its cash surrender value. Changes to
the cash surrender value at each balance sheet date
will be recognised in income statement as “other
losses, net”. In the event of death of the insured
person, the surrender of the policies, or the policies
mature, the investment will be derecognised and any
resulting gains/losses will be recognised in profit or
loss.

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold
land, are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation of
property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
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each reporting period.
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carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
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(c) License
License to run the lending service is recognised
as intangible asset in the consolidated balance
sheet. It has indefinite useful life and is tested
annually for impairment and carried at its cost
less accumulated impairment loss.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’'s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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(a)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"”) or through profit or loss),
and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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(b) Recognition and derecognition (b) EZEREHER

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in income statement and
presented in other losses, net together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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(d) Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see note 3.2 for further details.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

Inventories represented artworks that
opportunistically purchased by the Group and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of purchase of these artworks are determined
after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realizable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.
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Trade receivables represent commission receivables
and related services fees receivables that are due
from buyers and sellers as a result of the auctions
conducted by the Group. Trade receivables also
included those arising from direct artwork sales
conducted by the Group. The Group grants credit
period of 7 days for commission receivables and 30
days for receivables from artwork sales. Receivables
are generally due for settlement within credit periods
granted by the Group and are all classified as
current.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is obliged
to collect from the buyers the hammer price
amounts for artworks sold. Such receivables are
classified as “receivables from buyers in respect of
auction and related business” and due for
settlement within 7 days of recognition according to
the terms of the contracts with the buyers.

Other receivables that are realised as part of the
Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as
current assets even when they are not expected to
be realised within 12 months after the reporting
period. The operating cycle of an entity is the time
between the acquisition of assets for processing and
their realisation in the form of cash or cash
equivalents.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 3.2 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and bank balances includes cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables represent obligations to pay for
services from suppliers in the ordinary course of
business and amounts due to sellers of artworks
purchased by the Group for trading purpose.

Upon completing the auction, the Group is required
to remit the hammer price amounts for artworks
sold to sellers upon receiving the corresponding
amounts from the buyer and such payables are
classified as “payables to sellers in respect of auction
and related business”. These unpaid balances as at
period end are unsecured and are usually paid
within 35 days upon receiving the hammer price
amount. Trade and other payables are presented as
current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fees are
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fees are
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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The income tax expense or credit for the period is
the tax payable on the current period’'s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, and the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is more likely than not that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognized
as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is
not recognised because it is not probable that
outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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(a) Commission revenue (a) 2K

The Group earns commission revenue from
both buyer and seller through the auction sales
in which the Group mainly acts as the role of
auctioneer as well as promoting the sales
through professional marketing techniques
provided. The commission revenue is calculated
as a percentage of the hammer price of the
artwork sold at the auction in accordance with
the contracts between the Group and the
buyer and the seller. The Group also recorded
revenue generated from private sales arranged
by the Group on behalf of the consignors. The
Group may act as an agent by matching the
needs of consignors to those of buyers by
private sales. In return, the Group collect
commissions which are determined through
negotiation with both buyers and sellers,
usually representing the difference between the
purchase price paid by the buyers and the
selling price as pre-agreed by the sellers and
the Group.

The Group's entitlement to commission income
includes an element of consideration that is
variable or contingent on the outcome of
future events. Actual commission income to be
received is dependent upon, among others, the
completion of transaction between buyers and
sellers; and price concession based on
customary industry practice.

e ANNUAL REPORT 2020

AEEEBPEHEANERK
EXRRDASBA > MAKE
EHEHEERIREENE
ENAG  AXEBEER
BEXEHERMERHEE -
WATIERARBERERLE
RATETUMEGH  RBEEEH
Bl m A EEEN B D L MaT
BEH AEENBEFRER
SERRZEARHOLGE
ERBEA - AEBEERATE
TREAN EHRFEARER
MIF K - AR E P WEEE
ERO®H HEREREER
BEREmE  —MREERIMNDN
BEEESRALEESLH
EHEEZHAMNER

AR EEWEEE AR ERN S
BRRENTE HRBERRSE
&R A P EERBURN &
FEMH - BEBNERASK
ARF(EHBREIEEETZ
RERR 5 RIRE T RHIT%E
EPNERESR-



(a)

(b)

(c)

Commission revenue (Continued)

The Group recognised revenue upon
completion of the auction sale as evidenced by
the fall of auctioneer’s hammer. For private
sales, commission revenue is recognised upon
conclusion of contract with relevant buyer and
seller. The Group is required to estimate the
amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled from the provision of auction services
and private sales. The estimated amount of
variable consideration will be included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is
highly probable taking into consideration of the
risk of fallen through and price concession
based on customary industry practice, that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

Revenue from other services relating to
auctions

In relation to the auctions organised, the
Group also earns other services income from
catalogue preparation, or insurance charged to
the sellers for artworks in preparation for and
placed in the auctions, and they are
recognized as revenue when the related
services are rendered.

Revenue from artwork sales
Revenue from sale of artworks is recognized
upon transferring control of goods to
customers, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to
customers and title has passed.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

Agency income are recognised at the fee agreed in
the contract with the customers when the related
services are rendered.
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(a) Short-term obligations (a) FEHEMF

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period
in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated balance
sheet.

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. Employees of the
Group are covered by various government-
sponsored defined contribution pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a
monthly pension based on certain formulas.
The relevant government agencies are
responsible for the pension liability to these
retired employees. The Group contributes on a
monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due.
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(c)

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Share-based compensation
The Group operates share option scheme under
which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity
instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options as at the date of
grant: (i) including any market performance
conditions; (ii) excluding the impact of any
service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets); and (iii) including the impact
of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that
are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of
any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.
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ey

As explained in Note 2.1(c), the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group is
the lessee. The new policy is described below and
the impact of the change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 March 2019, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were
not transferred to the Group as lessee were
classified as operating leases (Note 32). Payments
made under operating leases were charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

From 1 April 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments).

Lease payment to be made under reasonably certain
options are also included in the measurement of
lease liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for
leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.
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To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

(i)  where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,;

(i)  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Company, which does not
have recent third party financing; and

(iii)  makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonable
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use assets is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life. Payments associated with short-term
leases and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.
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ey

Dividend distribution to the Company’s Shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at
fair value, which is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or to
interest rate differentials, by comparing the actual
rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders
would have charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to
that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued.
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A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between the Group and a
related party of the Group, regardless of whether a
price is charged.

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third party.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.29 Related party transactions (Continued)
(Continued)

(b)

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a) above.

a person, or a close member of that
person’s family, who has control or joint
control over the Group, has significant
influence over the Group or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
Group (or of a parent of the Group).

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on

the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Japan with transactions mainly settled in
HK$ and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entity’s functional currency.

As the assets and liabilities of each company
within the Group are mainly denominated in
the respective company’s functional currency,
the directors are of the opinion that the
Group's volatility of its profits against
reasonably possible changes in exchange rates
of foreign currencies would not be significant.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group was exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily with respect
to the potential effects on profit or loss which
included the impacts from translation in other
receivables which are not denominated in
functional currency of respective group
companies.
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BB RERN
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFEMRER (&)
3.1 Market risk (Continued) 3.1 HIBEE(E)
(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (a) SPEEFE(E
The following table shows that, if JPY had TRETR  MEBEBELBTH
strengthen/weakened by 5% against HK$, with B/ B E5%im FT A £ b 7] &
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit EE#HIE  FRRBEE
for the year change, mainly as a result of e TRREEEREN
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of REEBABT MRREES
JPY denominated other receivables in group LA B Bl &t & & H {th & U 5K I8 By
entities which their functional currencies are IR SNE Wz 18 o
HK$.
2020 2019
20205 20194
Post-tax profit increase/ B B 1% i I 4 hn, HK$°000 HK$'000
(decrease) (B L) T#&EX FET
JPY/HK$ exchange rate — HE BrTEX —
increase 5% EFA5% 19
JPY/HK$ exchange rate — HE #BrEX —
decrease 5% T 5% (19)
(b) Cash flow interest rate risk (b) IR&£7%EFERERE
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The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. The Group’s bank borrowings
which are carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2020, if the interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant,
the profit before tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$388,000 lower/higher
(2019: HK$351,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating-rate borrowings.

7 g 81 ) ) o L O 2 9R47 1
2 o A B UT BRI K 3B
RITERSTEBAAHBE R
BRI RE MR o AREL WY
{30 ) 1 50 L 05 B 2
AESA R

7202063 A31H - BRRX T E
Hh g T8 (nfExF
K FF, N BKI10018 & 2 4
JE B B A S F #8818 4y
388,000 7T (20194 : JF 4/~
#J1351,0008 L) - T EHR
FENF AR R B
mm A e



The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
bank deposits, trade and other receivables and
deposits and prepayments included in the
consolidated financial statements represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to its financial assets. The Company had given
guarantees to financial institutions in connection
with the banking facilities granted to its subsidiary
as set out in Note 31, which would expose the
Group or the Company to credit risk. The objective
of the Group’s measures to manage credit risk is to
control potential exposure to recoverability problem.

(a) Risk management
Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
were deposited in the major financial
institutions in Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan and
the PRC, which the directors believe are of
high credit quality.

The Group established policies to ensure that
revenue from art auction and related business
and artwork sales, consignor advance and
prepayment to sellers for auctioned artwork are
made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group assesses the credit
worthiness and financial strength of its
customers as well as considering prior
transaction history with the customers and
volume of sales. Refer to Note 22 for ageing
analysis of trade receivables. Management
makes periodic collective assessment as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical
payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors
and whether there are any disputes with the
debtors. If the other receivables from buyers in
respect of auction and related business has not
been received, the Group is not obligated to
pay the corresponding other payables to sellers
in respect of auction and related business. If
the buyer defaults on payment, the sale may
be cancelled, and the auction lots will be
returned to the seller. Both of the other
receivables and other payables in respect of
auction and related business in relation to such
cancelled sales shall be derecognised
simultaneously. As such, management believes
the credit risk relating to other receivables in
respect of auction and related business is not
significant.
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(a)

Risk management (Continued)

For consignor advance, the Group provides
certain collectors and art dealers with advances
with artwork held under the Group’s custody.
If the consigned artwork is sold in auction, the
proceeds received from the buyer, after
deducting commission, consignor advances,
interest and relevant taxes, will be paid to the
consignor. If the under custody artwork
remains unsold, the consignor will be required
to repay the advance together with interest,
where applicable, before the artwork under
custody is returned to the consignor. As such,
management believes the credit risk relating to
consignor advance is not significant.

Prepayments to sellers for auctioned artwork
represent the amounts advanced to sellers of
artwork before receiving full payments from
relevant buyers. Amounts may be advanced to
sellers prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers using the related auctioned artwork as
collateral. Prior to receiving full payment of the
auction purchase prices from the relevant
buyers, the Group reserves the right to request
repayment from sellers for the prepayments
advanced to them, or request the sellers to
replace another artwork with estimated value
no less than the prepayments to the Group. As
such, management believes the credit risk
relating to prepayments to sellers is not
significant.
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(a) Risk management (Continued)

For financial guarantee, the Group monitors
the risk that the specified debtor will default
on the contract and recognises a provision
when ECLs on the financial guarantees are
determined to be higher than its carrying
amount (i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation).

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. As the
Group is required to make payments only in
the event of a default by the specified debtor
in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based
on the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amount that the Group expects to receive from
the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then
discounted using the current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.
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(b) Impairment of financial assets (b) BHEERE

The Group’s trade receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost are
subject to the expected credit loss model.
While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period of 24
month before 31 March 2020 or 1 April 2019
respectively and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the GDP of the countries
in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on
expected changes in these factors.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

On that basis,

the

loss allowance was

determined for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019 as follows for trade
receivables:
Past due
within
Current 30 days
1308
k) M
As at 31 March 2020 1202053A318
Expected loss rate ERERE
Gross carrying amount — Trade ~ SAZE — Z5/E
receivables (HK$'000) WEE(FEL)
Loss allowance (HKS'000) BERRE(TET
As at 31 March 2019 1#201943R318
Expected loss rate BHERX 0.0% 0.5%

Gross carrying amount — Trade

FHLE— 25

WEHE(FET) 14,000
BREE(TET) —

receivables (HK$'000)
Loss allowance (HK$'000)

22,328

Trade receivables are written off when there is

no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst

others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of
greater than 360 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within the
Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

consolidated income statement.

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS

(108)

Past due
1t03
months
ME
3fREH
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M EEER(E

32 SEREGE)
(b) £=HEEHREE)
B S EWHE (B
Bk B S RKKEREE
20204 }&2019%3H31H IFF
EHEBERBEFEEENT
Pastdue  Pastdue  Pastdue  Past due
3to6 6 to 12 12t0 18 over 18
months months months months Total
H3ZE H6E JVES kel
6EREH 1EREY 18EAEY 18EAEH @t

1.2% 9.9% 2.5%

6,052
(72)

5428
(536)

4,932
(126)

0.0% 1.0% 46.2%
26 -

(12) -

6,919 4,301
- (420)

47,574
(540)

2 A FE TR H X W O] B i H B
2 REWKIR - &I IEH BRI
EHHER (HH) BREB AKX
REE RSB RIS B KET &) A
K i HA B 18360 A R BEfE L &
IR e

B 5 RYGRIRRERE BN G 5
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(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost,
including consignor advance and prepayment to
sellers for auctioned artwork, are considered to
be of low risk after considering the credit
history and worthiness of the consignors and
sellers as well as the market value of the
relevant artwork held by the Group, and
therefore the impairment provision is
determined as 12 months expected credit
losses. Management assessed and evaluated the
market value of the artwork under its custody
based on the valuation assessments performed
by the internal artwork appraisal team and by
referencing to the recent market prices of
similar artwork. As of 31 March 2020, no
provision was made in relation to these
consignor advances and prepayments to sellers
(2019: Nil).

The loss allowance provided for other financial
assets for the year ended 31 March 2020
amounted to HK$511,000 (2019: nil).

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash balances and the
availability of funding through committed credit
facilities and takes into account all available
information on future business environment
including among others, the economic impact of the
unprecedented COVID-19 on the economies of the
countries in which the Group and its customers and
suppliers operate. The Group manages its liquidity
risk by closely monitoring the turnover days of
receivables, monitoring its working capital
requirements and keeping credit lines available.
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The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash
to meet its operational needs and the Group expects
to fund the future cash flow needs through
internally generated cash flows from operations and
borrowings from financial institutions. The current
liabilities of the Group will be settled in the coming
twelve months in accordance with their payment
terms. Amongst the others, the majority of the
current liabilities were payables to sellers in respect
of auction and related business, amounting to
HK$145,484,000. Regarding other payables to sellers
in respect of auction and related business, the
Group is not obligated to pay the seller until the
other receivables from buyers in respect of auction
and related business are collected. If the buyer
defaults on payment, the sale may be cancelled, and
the auction lots will be returned to the seller, and
both of the other receivables and payables in respect
of auction and related business in relation to such
cancelled sales shall be derecognised simultaneously.

The Directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's cash flows projections, which cover a period
of twelve months from 1 April 2020. The directors
are of the opinion that, taking into account the
anticipated cash flows generated from the Group's
operations, the possible changes in its operating
performance, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from
31 March 2020.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BHEEEERE (&

3.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 33 RBE&EME(E)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TREBBEREEHEERERAB
liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into HO R BREEES N SHE R
relevant maturity grouping based on the remaining IFRBE AR S AN EE R FHE
period at each of the consolidated balance sheet HEENERABEFMENSIT - XA
dates to the respective contractual maturity dates. BENSERFTARURRSRE -

The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Between Between

Less than 1and 2 2 and 5 Over
On demand 1 year years years 5 years Total
BEX DRE 1E25 2E56 BiB5E @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TER TER TET FET TER

As at 31 March 2020 1420203A318
Trade and other payables BHREMEMRE 153,192 154,764

Borrowings and interest ER R ERE
payments 13,352 26,814 40,353
Lease liabilities MEER = 7,395 24,128
187,401 219,245

As at 31 March 2019 12019%3A318
Trade and other payables B o REMEMNFE — 210,315 — 6,884 — 217,199

Borrowings and interest BRERERE
payments — 32,914 2,682 287 — 35,883

- 243,229 2,682 717 - 253,082
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B OISR R M AT

MFEEMREER(Z)
3. EXEGER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3

3.4 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to enhance
shareholders’ value in long term.

The Group’s monitors capital by regularly reviewing
the capital structure. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with the issued share
capital. The Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total
capital. Total debts are calculated as total
borrowings and Total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet plus debts.

lease liabilities.

The gearing ratio at 31 March 2020 is as follows:

Borrowings (Note 27) B (KT 5E27)
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEaE(HiE16)
Total debt B 4aRR

Total capital R = I

Gearing ratio BEABHE

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS

AEBEBEERASERERAEER
BRENEEN  BAERBEREA
HipF i ERHENE - RASER&
EEARBURRRAKRREE-

AEEBBERRTERNRBEN
EEEAN - FRZEBERIHN IR
ARAEEFGEREARARER
BTRAERANRER - NEEKE
AR ERRIKMOKRE S [K
REEER BITHBEHILESR
EAREE -

HERNEMAR K NEEMA
BERBHLRERHEER X
RBREBERERARERTEMN
B -EBREREERIEERAE
AR CBEARAHEERBERM
Sl [HEzm | 5 IER

MR2020F3A31HmMEEAGLL X
U

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHE T
39,113 35,823
22,979 —
62,092 35,823
346,161 322,711
17.9% 11.1%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BHEEEERE (&

3.5 Fair value estimation 3.5 AFEME
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (a) LHREERERFE
(i) Fair value hierarchy () RNFEERFE
This section explains the judgements and A ET /R T A
estimates made in determining the fair N E AR A 2 B
values of the financial instruments that et ZEE2MIER
are recognised and measured at fair value MBmREPRATER
in the financial statements. To provide an RUEFE-RBEHERE
indication about the reliability of the NTEERMAE ASESN
inputs used in determining fair value, the AEREER X&E
Group has classified its financial BRESFLENBESH
instruments into the three levels TEDAEZE -SEB#&
prescribed under the accounting ZEBAERN T & -

standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB F2E E3E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER FTER

At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-%%E
=Z=A=+-8
Financial asset EREE
Financial assets at fair BAFERA
value through profit or Bmo e
loss (“FVTPL") BE(BAE
EitANEB&RZ
SREE]
Put option Roh AR

Total financial assets SREEER
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(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(1)

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial
instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted
market price used for financial
assets held by the group is the
current bid price. These
instruments are included in level
1.

The fair value of financial
instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level
2.

If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on
observable market data, the
instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for unlisted
equity securities.
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BB RERN
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) ZHEEREE(E)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () RXFEEREEE)
Specific valuation techniques used to RUAREs@IANE
value financial instrument include: EMERMTERE :

The fair value of the put option is RLHENRAFEETE
calculated by Monte carlo simulation. The ARt REREREN -
significant unobservable inputs include BERAFTAEEEAZRE
volatility and dividend payout ratio. BIERE RIS X -

There were no transfers of financial assets CREEXAGENFE
or liabilities between level 1, level 2 and CF2E K F3E A F
level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications. BEERERBENDE M

I EEF

The following table presents the changes TR EZ5#H £2020F3H
in level 3 items for the periods ended 31HIEEIEE3EIEE K
31 March 2020: &
Put option at Total
Rk st
HK$'000 HK$'000
BTHERT THERT

Opening balance as at 122019548 1HK

1 April 2019 Hw&es — —
Acquisitions W g 875 875
Fair value loss EREHEBERRERZ

recognised in the N EEE

consolidated income

statement (243) (243)
Closing balance as at  #2020%3H31H#

31 March 2020 L GE 3 632 632
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B PFE IS SRR M
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFEMRER (&
3.5 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.5 AFEMGEE)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) 2HEEREME(Z)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) R FEEREREE)
Sensitivity analysis of observable and ABR R EBREA
unobservable inputs HERBRESN
As described, the fair values of financial A ESCRTa - DRSS
asset that is classified in level 3 of the fair BATEER z2E/BE
value hierarchy are determined using A {E Ty B 3E 4
valuation techniques that make use of BRABEEMSHEBEZE
significant inputs that are not based on R ABBEZ HEEE
observable market data. These fair values EeZEATEAGEY
could be sensitive to changes in the RIEEA® AZSE 2R
assumptions used to derive the inputs. BREHRABE KR
Volatility and dividend payout ratio are REBLEDEFEFEKX
the main significant unobservable inputs. TR ERGAHE T
The table below illustrates the sensitivity KAAE ARG ASER
of the significant inputs when they are BREEN1TH AR
changed to reasonably possible alternative 2 BURRE -
inputs:

Favourable/
Fair value at Valuation  Significant Range of (unfavourable) changes
Description 31 March techniques inputs inputs in profit or loss
DN
Bt MW3A31BZAF(E fElEE EXBASE SRS BEFEH/(Fi)25H
2020 2019 2020 2019
pUPLl 20195 20205 EEVINEES
LGOI HK$'000 HKS 000 [z € o)
FTERT FHET FET FHT
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BRAEEFABEZ
SREE
Put option — Monte Carlo Volatility +5% —
Ah simulation 1R
iR B E R
B
Dividend +5% —
payout ratio
& B L &

5%
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAFESREBRERE (&

3.6 Offsetting financial assets and financial 36 HFSHEERSMER
liabilities
The following table presents the recognised financial T % £ 5 7220204 Kk2019F3A31
instruments that are offset as at 31 March 2020 AriHE EREmM I A
and 2019:

Effects of offsetting on the balance sheet
HEHESEARRNVE

Net amounts
Gross amounts  presented in
Gross set off in the the balance
amounts balance sheet sheet
REEEBRER EINEES
Lok i EE BERNFHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TH#ET FET
As at 31 March 2020 $22020%3A31H
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables Z ZEWIE 27,555 (7,316) 20,239
Total st 27,555 (7,316) 20,239
Financial liabilities EREE
Payables to sellers in respect of  FLIAE KB £ 15 &
auction and related business NERKFKIE (152,800) (145,484)
Total st (152,800) (145,484)
As at 31 March 2019 $22019%3A31H
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 72,015 (24,4417) 47,574
Total @t 72,015 (24,447) 47,574
Financial liabilities EREE
Payables to sellers in respect of FAIHE R XK E
auction and related business NERHFZIE (221,967) 24,441 (197,526)
Total st (221,967) 24,441 (197,526)
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectation of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
outlined below:

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for the Group's property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
Management will revise the depreciation charges
where useful lives are different to that of previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may
differ from estimated useful lives and actual residual
values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and residual values and therefore
depreciation expense in future periods.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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WRM

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. Write-downs of inventories are recorded
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The
identification of write-downs requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and
write-downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. Management
reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet
date.

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in each
of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are recognized
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred income tax assets and
taxation charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

e ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4

4.5

4.6

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period, including the consideration of the global
health issues. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.2.

Determination of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar
environment with similar terms and conditions.

value in a similar economic

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value
less costs to sell calculations. The calculations require
the use of judgements and estimates.

in circumstances
recoverable.

4
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Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether
an event has occurred that may indicate that the
related asset values may not be recoverable; (ii)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could affect the net present value used
in the impairment test and as a result affect the
Group's financial position and results of operations.

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the executive directors of the Group (“CODM") that make
strategic decisions. The CODM assesses the performance
of the operating segments based on a measure of gross
profit for the purpose of allocating resources.

The management has identified two operating segments

based on the types of revenues, namely (i) operation of
art auction and related business; and (ii) artwork sales.

e ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& O IS R M A
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEEEE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the R E E£2020F %2019F3A318 L FE -
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: ERTERERKTENSHBERNT -

Year ended 31 March 2020 & F20205
3A31BLEE
Segment revenue from external KEINHBEFH
customers o EFIA
Costs of services/sales AR 75,/ 85 & pX AR
Segment results R E
Other losses, net Hth 5858
Other income H At I A
Net impairment losses on financial PREEZRE
assets B8 FE
Selling and distribution expenses HE KD HAX
Administrative expenses THHX
Operating profit EERT
Finance income, net BRI A
Share of profit of associate accounted &5 Bt & A 7

for using the equity method

Al - A

DRI

Profit before income tax B BT 1% i 5 s 71
Income tax expense FTigBiMx
Profit for the year FEERH

Operation of
art auction
and related

business

ENRHEER
HEAEBEE

HK$’000
FEXT

98,019
(26,594)

71,425

Artwork

sales Total

ENmHE @st

HK$'000
F#&IT

HK$°000
FET

107,589
(31,652)

75,937
(460)
14,497

(3,789)
(27,918)
(48,687)

9,580
748
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

5 SEMEHE)

Operation of

art auction
and related Artwork
business sales Total
EffRAEER
MEEREE ZEimiES BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F& T FET
Year ended 31 March 2019 #H F201945

3318 LL§EE

Segment revenue from external KEINEBEF B
customers o EBUA 146,889 19,202 166,091
Costs of services/sales AR, 885 & A A (34,668) (5,242) (39,910)
Segment results SERELE 112,221 13,960 126,181
Other losses, net HihE 8 %8 (4,043)
Other income H A 1,836

Net impairment losses on financial PRMEERERS
assets BF 5 (1,194)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (41,717)
Administrative expenses TR (66,075)
Operating profit mEnf 14,988
Finance income, net B WA F R 310
Profit before income tax B& Fir 15 Bi g ik U 15,298
Income tax expense PGB X (6,677)
Profit for the year FEiHF 8,621

Revenue from external customers, by geographical area, is

PR REIDONKEINBEL KA

2020
20204
HK$"000
FHE&T

2019
2019%F
HK$’'000
TAT

61,274

as follows: ™
Hong Kong B
Japan SIPN

46,315

94,105
71,986

107,589

166,091
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& OF B 15 R MY &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEWER(E)
Information on segment assets and segment liabilities of HRAEENDHBEERSHEEER
the Group are not reviewed by CODM for the purpose of WARBEELERXREZTHUDEER
resource allocation and performance assessment nor KRB TRETHEXTEER
otherwise regularly provided to the CODM. As a result, no ERRE HUBENDHEERDF
analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is BENSIT -
presented.
Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets, IR R E D RIERBE E GRIES
by geographical area are as follows: MEERIMNBT :
2020 2019
2020% 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Hong Kong B 15,765 3,883
Japan AR 20,425 18,592
Taiwan =0 8,562 —
44,752 22,475
REVENUE 6
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Revenue from art auction and i minE MEBEEBRA
related business 98,019 146,889
Artwork sales B miHE 9,570 19,202

107,589 166,091

All customers individually accounted for less than 10% of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2020
(2019: Same).

All revenue of the Group are recognised at a point in
time.

REE2020F3A31BILFEE  FTERP
12 Bl h AN = B U A D FR10% (20194 : 15
SRR o

REBE A WA R EHER -
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OTHER LOSSES, NET

7 HttEEEE#

Exchange (loss)/gain

Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment, net

Changes in cash surrender values of
key management life insurance
contracts

Changes in fair value of convertible
notes

Fair value loss on financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss

Others

2020
20204
HK$'000
FE&T
PE X (E18), s (175)
HEME - BERZHBEER
FEE
TEEREASRBREOHE
SRIREEZH

EEGES PN

BAVEAABRZ
TREERNTFEEE
H At

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020

2019
20194
HK$'000
FH&T

24

(4,107)
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OTHER INCOME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Hiblg A

Agency income (Note (i)
Miscellaneous income (Note (ii))

Others (Note (iii)) E b (BT 5 Gii) )

=GN E 0D
R TR WA (B REGD )

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, TCA Japan entered
into an agency agreement with an independent third party
in providing agency services relating to demolishment of a
property located in Japan. In return for such services
provided, TCA Japan recognised an agency income of
approximately HK$14,381,000 for the year.

The amount mainly represented miscellaneous handling fees
charged to customers during auctions in Japan.

Others mainly represented bidding deposits forfeited and
penalties from the buyers.

(ii)

(iii)

2020 2019
20205F 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T FET
14,381 —
— 723

116 1,113
14,497 1,836

#H £2020F3A318 I+ F € - TCAR &
BEVE=FI N REHE  RHEAH
FHRARBANMENRIERE - TCA
AARRAFEE D HER4L14,381,0007 7T
BRERA - RERRHEEBRB D
ﬁzo

ZRBATERERARESHEARER
WEHMBRTEE -

H X 2ERIWERNBERRES RE

h
N
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

9 RUHIASZHAX

2020
20204
HK$’000
FHET

Cost of inventories sold

Rental and setup costs for auction
and preview exhibition venues

Catalogue expenses

Operating lease rentals in respect of
rented premises

Agency commissions

Advertising and promotion expenses

Transportation

Travelling

Entertainment

Business hospitality

Bank charge

Legal and professional fee

Employee benefit expenses
(Note 13)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 16)

Amortisation of intangible assets

Net impairment losses on financial
assets

Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services

Listing expenses (Note)

Others

EEFERA
HELTERGHWHEBLERE
=92

&l 8% F >
MEMENKERERS
REME
BEEREBRX
BEHER

EIRAX

IR E

RIS

RiTW B
FEREEER

B TRA X (MiE13)

WX BEREBITE
(B &E15)
EREEENE (E16)

BV EEH#H
TREERERREFHA

1% 25 B #r B
— JERTRH
— FEFRH
£ R 32 (B RE)
H Al

5,058

17,869
5,542

277
3,487
4,676
2,622
3,728
1,563
2,276
1,608
3,506

31,225

3,050

6,837
62

3,789

2,300
195

12,376

Total costs of sales of goods, costs
of services, net impairment losses
on financial assets, selling and
distribution expenses and
administrative expenses

EmiHEMA IR
TR EERE R

HE RO HAX RITHRHA

XK

112,046

For the year ended 31

Note:

March 2019, the amount included
auditor’s remuneration for non-audit services of HK$2,147,000.

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020

B ZE2019F3A31BILFE -
&1 BR 75 /9 1% 2 AN %5 82,147,000 7T

2019
20194
HK$'000
TATT

5,242

23,367
9,722

7,756
2,528
9,181
4,629
5,803
3,811
3,794
1,075
5,190

31,891

2,727

62

1,194

2,000
500
15,258
13,166

148,896

ZREBREEE



10 FINANCE INCOME, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 MAFUL N iFER

Finance income:
— Interest income on bank
deposits
— Interest income from

LURE ONE
— RITHEFF B A

— ZRABNFIENE

consignor advance WA
Finance costs: ISR AN
— Imputed interest of provision — ERKABEE 2
for reinstatement cost HEE AR

— Interest expense on lease
liabilities

— Interest expense on bank and
other borrowings

—HEREBEMNERX

— RITREMERFE

F X

Finance income, net

B 15 W A% B

2020
20204
HK$'000
TER

& OF B 15 R MY &

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

582

582

(272)

(272)

310
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11
The amounts of income tax expense charged to the
consolidated income statements represent:

FEHHEX
RA PR R IR BTSRRI SR IE K -

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT

Current income tax BEHER
— Hong Kong — BA 5,437
— Japan — B=R 260
— (Over)/under-provision in — BAFERE

prior years (BE) /TR 105
Total current income tax EHFGEH &S 5,802
Deferred income tax (Note 20) IR AE BT 15 4 (BT 5520) 875
Income tax expense TS XX 6,677

(a) Hong Kong profits tax (a) FEFEH

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group is
eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group to be chargeable at the two
tiered profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be
chargeable on the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits at 8.25% and assessable profits above this
threshold will be subject to a rate of 16.5%. Hong
Kong profits tax of other Hong Kong incorporated
entities in the Group has been provided for at the
rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
(2019: same).

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(b) Japan corporate income tax

Japan corporate income tax has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profit for the year ended
31 March 2020 at the rates of taxations prevailing in
Japan in which the Group operates. The Group is
subject to national corporate income tax, inhabitant
tax, and enterprise tax in Japan, which in aggregate,
resulted in effective statutory income tax rates of
approximately 34.6% for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: 34.6%).

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that could arise
using the weighted average tax rates applicable to
profits of the consolidated entities during the
respective years is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY &

11 FiIS#BRAXE)

(b)

Profit before income tax

B% P 15 75 A A

Tax calculated at a taxation rate of

LA16.5% T KT E /Y

16.5% 1% I8
Difference arising from tax rate in HA RERE R E 8
respect of other jurisdiction =H
Tax effect of: NTRIEZMBTE
— Expenses not deductible for tax ~ — AT AFFE X
purpose
— Income not subject to income tax — BEHMFTETRH 2
WA
— Tax losses not recognised — KERVIIEEE
— Tax allowance and special — R K R
deduction
— Withholding tax on unremitted — RELAFZEN
earnings (Note 20) i (M 3E20)
— (Over)/under-provision in prior — BEFEEE
years GBE)/ TR
— Temporary difference not — RKERNEREE
recognised
— Others — HAh
Income tax expense FFr 45 74 B 2

BEAASIFR&EH

B AR &) FT 15 5 i BR & £20204F3
A318 IEF &R & M 4 B
NAEELREEBKFER) 2B]IT
MEFE-EAA AEBEAM
BRARMSH BEREBE R HE
i B =2020F3A31B L F E X
A EBRETHEMEL B34.6%
(20194F : 34.6% ) °

RBMEE  NEBEERAEHA®
MZBREBIRRKBERREHE
BN MEFORERFEZER
iR - HE

2020 2019
20204
HK$'000
TER

20194
HK$'000
BT

10,461 15,298

2,524

230

(165)

15

105

178
113

6,677
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12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

152

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to the owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

12 BiR&F

(a)

Net profit attributable to the owners A2 &1 A A B
of the Company (HK$'000) Fom A (FAE L)
Weighted average number of BT E B ME
ordinary shares in issue ("000) FHE(FR)
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) & BEAZEF| GBAL)
Diluted earnings per share (b)

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has no
dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year
ended 31 March 2020 and accordingly the diluted
earnings per share equals basic earnings per share.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the potential
ordinary shares arising from convertible notes were
not included in the calculation of dilutive earnings
per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Accordingly, diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2020 is same as basic earnings per
share (2019: same).
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20194

8,632
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1.69 1.99
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 13
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BEEEIFEZX(BEEEREHR
EERENE)

Salaries, wages and bonuses e IEREL
Pension, medical insurance and BIkE  EERR K
other social insurances EmteRn
Staff welfare and other benefits ETREMEHEMNE
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include five (2019: five)
directors for the year ended 31 March 2020, and
their emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown
in Note 37(a).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the
director nor other members of the five highest paid
individuals received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join, upon joining the Group,
to leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET TAT

29,110 28,484

1,895 1,987
220 1,420

31,225 31,891

ZEmEFAL

B E2020F3A31B L EE A&
ERrE&eH ATBEREZ (2019
F RARBEE HEFTHMNKE
37(a)FT R 2 AT R R B o

R E E2020F3A831H EFE &
EXEMAERR T ATHKER
B ER N & E A fr] B BN E R 0 AR
£B8 RMNAREEEZ BRLASE
B B SRR (E
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14 DIVIDEND

154

Proposed dividend

On 26 June 2020, the Directors have proposed a final
dividend of HK 1.0 cent per ordinary share in respect of
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: HK 2 cents),
amounting to approximately HK$5,000,000 (2019:
HK$10,000,000), which is subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend
payable in the financial statements, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Final dividend paid

Dividends paid and payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial year, paid
and payable during the year.

14 IR

EEES

MR2020F6H26H B £ & # &H =
2020F3A31H IEFEMRBAR B TR
B0 (20194 : 2781L) - SFEH
/5,000,000 7T (20194 : 10,000,000/%
TL)  EAFARRIRERARQ R ERER
RBFRKE EREFAEE-

kB E RN RS TR R R A E AN AR
BB R AR E2020F3A318 IEF
EFEBRRBEF -

ERFXHBKRE
BERNLEL—EMBFEENRENAR
ABRRZBEE(EXNERRFEFRAREM) -

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Final dividend in respect of the B £2019F3A318 1t
previous financial year ended F—EMEBRFEERRE
31 March 2019, approved and iR B & B2
payable during the year, of HK 2 (2018%3A318 : &)
cents (31 March 2018: Nil) per (B E MR FERER)
share —
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15 Y - B E KRR

Furniture,

fixtures and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF 75 R B R

Leasehold office
Freehold land Buildings  improvements equipment  Motor vehicles Total
G BEXE
KAEEL BF MEWEEE REREE B @
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THT TET THT TR
As at 1 April 2018 R2018%4A18
Cost B A 529 6,210 9,565 2,081 2,587 20,972
Accumulated depreciation BiME — (560) (4,886) (840) (1,286) (7,572)
Net book amount RHFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 13,400
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE201953A31HLEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 529 5,650 4,679 1,241 1,301 13,400
Additions NE — — 278 300 — 578
Disposals HE — — (85) (13) — (98)
Depreciation (Note 9) & (K359) — (315) (1,659) (250) (503) 2,727)
Exchange difference ERESE (10) (121) (32) (22) (26) 1)
Closing net book amount EREEEFE 519 5,214 3,181 1,256 772 10,942
As at 31 March 2019 1#201943A318
Cost B A 519 6,085 8,503 2,283 2,549 19,939
Accumulated depreciation ZiME — (871) (5322) (1,027) (1,777 (8,997)
Net book amount FEFE 519 5214 3,181 1,256 772 10,942
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 Y¥ - BERREE)

156

(Continued)

Furniture,

fixtures and

Leasehold office
Freehold land Buildings improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
R BERE
KAEEL Y By HEPERE REARE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT FHET TERT FHET TERT FHET
As at 1 April 2019 #2019%4818
Cost KA 8,503 2,283 2,549
Accumulated depreciation ZEiE (5,322) (1,027) (1,777)
Net book amount REFE 3,181 1,256
Year ended 31 March 2020 22020638318 LEE
Opening net book amount FOERZE 3,181 1,256
Additions WE 897 207
Depreciation (Note 9) & (M 9) (2,098) (220)
Exchange difference EXER - 1
Closing net book amount FRE®FE
As at 31 March 2020 120204£3H318
Cost KA 6,085 9,400 2,491 2,549
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,202) (7,420) (1,247) (2,179)
Net book amount HEFE 4,883 1,980 1,244

Note:

All depreciation expenses have been charged to administrative
expenses for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

B E2020F K2019F3A31B L E > A
ERAXERITHRASIAE -
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16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

The Group's right-of-use assets and lease liabilities mainly
arise from lease of offices and warehouses with lease
terms of 2 to 3 years, but may have extension options as
described below. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants.

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These are
used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of
managing the assets used in the Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective
lessor.

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following

16

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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HE
M AR B AR A TSR
B

AEENERAEEENMEEREBEER
WMAERBREEL  EENF2235F - A
Al RE A Tt 2 3T H R R - T R (E R
HEEBLEERZET R IR SR -
8 & 195 5% 1 s pnAE ] 3258 e

AEBANZENEHRHERSEH MK
HEER - REEAKENEZETNE
EMs %S EERANEEEAAR
BEEE - NEDRAWEH R K IEE
BREATHASEMIFEROEATE -

EHEERBERIRTIEREENS

amounts relating to leases:  :

As at As at
31 March 2020 1 April 2019
122020 720194
3A31H 4H1H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FBTT
(Note 2.2)
(Bt 3E2.2)

Right-of-use assets EHEEE
Buildings BF 22,042 28,258
22,042 28,258

Lease liabilities HEaE
Non-current JERB 16,129 22,722
Current T E) 6,850 6,451
22,979 29,173
HEEHARAEERBRERAFZE_FTEFERE 157



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY

16 LEASES (Continued)

The movements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

are analysed as follows:

16 HE(#E)
ERRAERAEABZEYHTMT

Right-of-use assets
As at 1 April 2019 under
HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2)

EHESE
BIED B M EREERF 165
N2019F4 18 (Ms52.2)

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H
Total

st

HK$'000
FERT

28,258

Additions = 1,346
Termination 1k (721)
Depreciation charge HEEHR (6,837)
Exchange difference ME N E R (4)
As at 31 March 2020 ”2020%3H31H 22,042
As at 31 March 2020 ”2020%E3H31H
Cost [N 36,308
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (14,266)
Net book amount BRE FE 22,042
Lease liabilities HEERE
As at 1 April 2019 under REBEEAMBREERE 165

HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) 20194818 (M 3E2.2) 29,173
Additions NE 1,346
Termination 2k (722)
Interest expenses MERX 712
Lease payments HE = (7,525)
Exchange difference ME N, E R (5)
As at 31 March 2020 #20205F3A31H 22,979

R200F M ER SRR (BEER
HEaBEEENNZREEBESEEEN
AHF %) A7,802,000 It ©

The total cash outflow for leases, including the payments
made in relation to lease liabilities and expenses relating
to short-term lease payments in 2020 was HK$7,802,000.
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17

SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020

are set out below:

Place of incorporation/

establishment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17

fft /8 22 B

B OF 75 R B R

MR2020F3A31H  AEEMETZEME AR
RIEFI T -

Particulars of issued share

Interest held by

Interest held by

Name (Note (i) Principal activities capital/registered capital The Company The Company
Directly indirectly  Directly indirectly
M
&8 RIHE (MEG)) EEREH ERTRE HREFFE RARRAZER  AAARAZHER
HE & HE %
2020 2020 2019 2019
20205 20205 2019 2019%
Tokyo Chuo Auction Co., Ltd.  Japan Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of JPY50,000,000 95% — 92% —
("TCA Japan”) artwork sales
KABHERRPRF-V>3Y BAE REMERERBREWRHE % %4 750,000,000
([TCAB%))
Tokyo Chuo Auction Hongkong  Hong Kong Provision of auction related services and Paid-in capital of HK$1 100% — 100% —
Company Limited artwork sales
RRPRHEERBRAA E RENEEBREREWRHE EERETL
Shanghai Shengjia Culture The PRC Promotion and related activities Paid-in capital of RMB361,680 — 95% — 92%
Development Co., Ltd
(Note (i)
LEREXLERBERAA e EERERED EHERARE361,6807T
(B &)
Tokyo Chuo Taiwan Auction Taiwan Investment holding Paid-in capital of TWD1,000,000 100% — — —
Company Limited
RRPREEMERGER ag REER B G AR £%1,000,0007C
NS
CGU Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Provision of money lending Paid-in capital of HK$10,000 100% — — —
FiE REHE FHEA10,000% 1T
Notes: B s

(i) These subsidiaries principally operate in their places of

incorporation/establishment.

(i)~ This subsidiary is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

REHFRAEERARAFA s —B_FEFERS

() ZEWBRAREEEEFMARL L

3 B 4

(iy ZWBRARIBEBEBEDLE-
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18 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING 18 EHESEHEIIRMESE
EQUITY METHOD
The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet EREHEERRRBERNESBAOT
is as follows:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHERT FHET
Investments in an associate R—HEBERRNEE 7,930 —
The amount recognised in the consolidated income EREaHRaiERNSENT :

statement is as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET F&ET

Share of profits from an associate 7 — R & A B A & F 133 —
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INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Investments in an associate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R M AT

18 EHAEEETEIRMRE (&

R—EBEATNIRE

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET

As at 1 April #4A18

Capital contributions BERFE

Share of profits from an associate R — S 2 7 S & A
Currency translation difference INETE E R

As at 31 March R3A31H

On 1 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with an
independent third party in relation to the proposed
acquisition by the Group of 34% of the entire issued
shares in Mu Chun Tang Auction Co., Ltd (“Mou Chun
Tang”) (REERERMD AR AR, a Taiwan-based auction
house. The Proposed Acquisition was completed on
16 August 2019 at a consideration of HK$8,500,000.

As set out in the share purchase agreement, the Company
shall be entitled to require the seller of Mou Chun Tang
to repurchase the equity interest held by the Company at
original purchase price at HK$8,500,000 if the net profit
after tax of Mou Chun Tang during the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 does not exceed
HK$7,500,000 in aggregate. The fair value of such put
option has been accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss. The fair value of the put
option as of date of acquisition amounted to
HK$875,000.

20194818 - A AR BB E =
RIVELENRINZHBESSE  AD
ERASERBRKRBE—MeERETAE
EHERGERAR(AEE)NEE
BEITRMDM34% - BETHKER
201958 H16H T + X {& %8,500,000/%
e

BUORDBEBZAE WAFTER
2019F1 A1 H 22021512 A31H Hi /@ ~2
Br B 18 0% & A & £ 7 8 #87,500,0007%8
AR BERERAEENERAR
%8 B (88,500,000 TIEE AR FFEH
IR - ZRE N AT ERIRAF
Bt \BR 22 EEY R - R0h %
BN FEBZEWEE B /8750008 5T °
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18 INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING 18 EREEEFHEIIRMIRE (&
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Investments in an associate (Continued) R—REBEATNR/E (E)
Set out below are the summarised financial information N X &5 E E2020F38318 IEFE —
for an associate for the year ended 31 March 2020: BERNTNMBERRE
Mu Chun
Tang Auction
Co., Ltd
AEENS
BHBAERAT
2020
20205
HK$’000
FHET
Assets and liabilities M3A3MBNEEREBRE
as at 31 March
Current assets mBEE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Current liabilities mBAaE
Non-current liabilities EMBAEE
Profit or loss for the period BE3A3B L HEMER

162

ended 31 March

(since acquisition date

as at 16 August 2019)

Revenue

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

(B 1220198 H16 H By Yx BE B HARE)

Y 2
F R w F S AR A WA B

Reconciliation to carrying
amounts:
Opening net assets at book value
as at acquisition date
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the period
Currency translation difference

ARE{EH AR -
RKRBEERRERMECFNEEFE
R ) g A Ko 2 U A 4 EE

ST E E R

Closing net assets

FREEFE

Interest in associate (34%)

Fair value adjustment upon
acquisition, net of tax

Currency translation differences

R—EEE QR 2= (34%)
WHER A FEHEFNERRER)

SNEE 3T B E R

Carrying value

FREE
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19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19 BAFEHFANEGEZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET F&T

Put options in relation to acquisition & BF R & U B8 1) 52 0 B A
of investment accounted for using FRAESEEYE
equity method

The fair value of this put option as at 31 March 2020 2020563A31H  RVAEEM AT ER
was determined by using Monto Carlo simulation the with BERAFHRERBEARTIEEZR
the following key assumptions: ®RMETE :

Dividend payout ratio Ui =
Volatility 8
20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 20 BEFMGHEERERE

LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when ”‘ﬁii?ﬁ‘[iﬂﬁ R AT U El 2 g B AT
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current SHREZHMEHABEEE  UEAEE
income tax recoverable against current income tax Lﬁﬁ HMEEMBEHER —HEEER
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and ZIERH BRI TRAERHRE BB K 2
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation FriEMBM MEBRRIEEELEL
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable BRIF  REFSHEEHEAEHESIEE -
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances KM

on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows:

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FAT

Deferred income tax assets BEMEMEE 1,266 1
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTIS M AT (2,596) (2,574)

(1,330) (2,573)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 20 IBEEFRGHEERER(E)

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in net deferred income tax (liabilities)/assets

are as follows: T
2020
20205
HK$'000
FHERT
Beginning of the year F4 (2,573)
Adjustment on adoption of AN B B 75 22 A
HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) FIREREL 2 HE
(K552.2)
Beginning of the year, restated FY(HEES)
Credited/(charged) to income RIBERET A (HOBR)
statement (Note 11) (MF3E11)
Exchange differences ME N E R
End of the year FR (1,330)
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2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

(1,715)

(1,715)

(875)
17

(2,573)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 20 BEFBHHEERBRE(E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEEMBREERAGBRB E2020F3AH
during the year ended 31 March 2020, without taking BNREFENEEH(TERER A
into consideration the offsetting of balance within the EERAEEER) DT
same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
Deferred income tax assets BEFIRBEE
Property, Other
plant and payables ‘Lease
equipment  Inventories and accruals liabilities Others Total
H it pEfF
W% BE RIER
Rkt BE st ER HEER Hit @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

At 1 April 2018 201844818 551 1,059 244 - 1,257 3,111
Credited/(charged) to income REFKHFA/
statement (1) (450) (404) 65 — (739) (1,528)
Exchange differences EREE (20) (30) (5) — (40) (95)
At 31 March 2019 #2019%3A318 81 625 304 — 478 1,488
Adjustment on adoption of RMBARBEREE
HKFRS 16 (see note 2.2) BIE165% 12 fE T 1
HE(RME2.2) - - - 7,000 - 7,000
At 1 April 2019, restated #201954A18
(FE5) 7,000 8,488
Credited/(charged) to income REFRHFA/
statement (%) (1,517) (1,357)
Exchange differences EXES = 2
At 31 March 2020 12020%3A318
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND 20 IEEFTEHEERER(E)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities

BEFGEBER

Key  Withholding

management tax on
life insurance unremitted Right-of-use
contracts earnings assets Others Total
TEEEEN KREHENZ
ERBEH B ERELE Hit @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER TER TER
As at 1 April 2018 201854 /18 1,756 2,591 - 479 4,826
(Credited)/charged to income RE&HX
statement GtA)/ B (1,452) 15 - 784 (653)
Exchange differences EXER (66) (51) — 5 (112)
As at 31 March 2019 1201943A31H 238 2,555 — 1,268 4,061
Adjustment on adoption of RNEBMBREE
HKFRS 16 (see note 2.2) B 5 165% 12 1F i )
BE(AHE2.2) — — 6,787 - 6,787
At 1 April 2019 ®201944R18
(Credited)/charged to income RE&HX
statement GPNVEI
Exchange differences EXER
As at 31 March 2020 12020%3A318

166

The Directors do not have an intention to distribute the
retained earnings of certain subsidiary of the Group such
that deferred income tax liabilities of HK$1,113,000
(2019: HK$1,095,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings of the subsidiary. Such
unremitted earnings totaled HK$22,256,000 as at
31 March 2020 (2019: HK$21,896,000).

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in
respect of losses of approximately HK$1,619,000 as at
31 March 2020 (2019: HK$1,154,000). Unrecognised tax
losses amounting to approximately HK$1,591,000 as at
31 March 2020 (2019: HK$1,154,000) will be subject to
expiry from year 2024 to 2025 (2019: year 2023 to
2024), while the remaining balance as at 31 March 2019
can be carried forward indefinitely.
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BH) - F Lt s E N R B A RE
PRMNENNEMBFERREEREH
B 51,113,000/ 7T (20194 : 1,095,000
7 J0) o ’A2020F 38318 - B @ K [E
B F & # 522,256,000/ JT (20194 :
21,896,000/ 7T ) °

M2020F3A318 - AEBE YW E G E B4
1,619,000/ 7T (20194 : 1,154,000 Jr)
T RIE L PT1S I & E - 202063 A31H
B R FERR B TE B 18 491,591,000 7T (2019
£ : 1,154,000/ JT) # 7R20244F E2025F
F E 7 H (20194 : 20234 20244 4F
fE) MR2019F3A3 1B T &% &
PR R 45 85 o
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21 INVENTORIES 21
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THE T
Artwork Afy on 53,858 20,898
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and BE2020F3A31REGFE BRRAX
included in “costs of sales of goods” amounted to Vet A [EREEKRE] 2FERANR
approximately HK$5,058,000 for the year ended 31 March 5,058,000/t (20194 : 5,242,000/%
2020 (2019: HK$5,242,000). ) B
22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 B RHEMEWRIE
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKS$’000 HK$'000
F#T FHEIT
Trade receivables g 5 e WA 20,239 47,574
Less: loss allowances B B ER s (818) (540)
Trade receivables — net B 5 WA F5E 19,421 47,034
Other receivables E fib & W 5RIE
— Receivables from buyers in — ERERME REEZE
respect of auction and %8 (M REG))
related business (Note (i)) 110,983 150,187
— Consignor advance (Note (ii)) — ZFE AT RIA
(B 7)) 86,252 23,917
— Input value-added tax — 7] Yy [0 i TH S E B
recoverable 399 2,877
— Others — H b 15,844 1,352
Trade and other receivables B 5N E b E WK IE 232,899 225,367
As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of trade and other MR2020F3A31H  AEEE Z R HAME
receivables of the Group approximated their carrying WRRIE R A A R FREE S (2019
amounts (2019: same). FBERAER) -
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

0)

(if)

Other receivables from buyers in respect of auction and
related business represent the purchase price of the
auction articles receivable on behalf of sellers.

Included in other receivables are advances of
HK$86,252,000 made to certain consignors as at
31 March 2020 (2019: HK$23,917,000) upon consignment
of auction articles to the Group. As at 31 March 2020,
these advances bore interest at 0% to 12% per annum
(2019: interest free).

The Group recognised loss allowance for trade and other
receivables as follows:

22 ESREMEBKARIE(E)

(i) HiERKERMERBBEXHFREN
REFXEBRNHEREERE -

(i) M2020%3A31H T A E b EUW K IER
8 & X IE86,252,000/8 T (20194 :
23,917,000 7T) - BAASKEZTHE
mERE TEEAEHOEMZIE - R
20209F3A31H @ ZE BN K\ % F A
E0% E12%51 B (20194 : & 8) °

AEEERE S L HEAMEKFIARNE IS
BEWT

168

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#IT TET
Loss allowance EriE G

— Trade receivables — B S EWHIA 1,194
— Other receivables — HAth fE W FRIE —

Net impairment losses on trade and B 5 K& H fth & W 30 IE 598 &
other receivables E 8% E 1,194

The
disclo

above impairment losses have been separately
sed as “net impairment losses on financial assets” in

the consolidated income statement.

Lt BEBFERERSHEERN TR
BEREERFEI DR TARE -

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of trade and 202093 A31H ' B 5 R E b U FKIB
other receivables are denominated in the following REREEMN T EBETE :
currencies:
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT F&E T
HK$ B TT 168,830 119,226
JPY H 64,060 106,086
Other B ] 55
232,899 225,367
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)
The Group grants credit period of 7 days for commission
receivables and 30 days for receivables from artwork sales.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date, before provision for impairment, as at 31 March
2020 and 2019, was as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY &

22 ESREMEBKRIE(E)

AEEGRERASMEL7IRNEER -
I B FE U A9l qh 8H B FRIE M X H30K AY
{5 B B - 1020204 &%2019F3A31H * &
SRV HREBERBELHRCRERER)
RERBE DT A0 T -

— Within 30 days — 30K
— 1 to 3 months — 1E31E A
— 3 to 6 months — 3%6/E A
— 6 to 12 months — 62 121E A
— Over 1 year — 1FLAE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
3,245 23,828

— 12,500

6,052 6,920
5,428 4,301
5,514 25
20,239 47,574

Movements of the Group’s provision for impairment of AEBESREREREBE 2ZBHN
trade receivables are as follows: N
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
At beginning of the year F9) 540 202
Increase in loss allowance BRI IE R AL M
recognised 3,278 1,194
Write-off U sH (3,001) (859)
Exchange differences M X ZEH 1 3
At end of the year FR 540
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BB RERN
23 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 23 BREREMNRIE
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Current portion: MENER S :
Prepayments to sellers for HEMRBELMEM
auctioned artwork (Note (ii)) EESENEEE/SENCIETD)) 79,687 —
Deposits and prepayments & kBN FKIE 11,603 14,841
91,290 14,841
Non-current portion: FERENE S :
Rental and other deposits HekEtize 4,380
Key management life insurance TEEBEEBEASRREN
contracts (Note (i)) (B 3EG) ) 6,563
10,943
25,784
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the fair value of deposits 20204 X%201963A31H - A& HZ®
of the Group approximated their carrying amounts. WAFEEARBMEES
As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of 20204 X%201963A31H » ke KB
deposits and prepayments are denominated in the REMEEAEBENTHESE :
following currencies:
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$’'000 HK$’'000
TER FAET
HK$ BT 76,988 14,930
JPY H 18,396 10,599
RMB AR 33 165
Others H 67 90
95,484 25,784
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23 DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) 23 R&RFEFERIE (&)

Notes: Bt 5
(i) Key management life insurance contracts (i) EEBEBEEASREEH
Movements of the Group's investment in key management REERETZEEEASRBENERE
life insurance contracts are as follows: s :
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#&T FHT
At beginning of the year F 1) 6,563 12,270
Addition NE = 814
Termination of key management WIEFTZEEREASRBELH
life insurance contracts (6,187)
Changes in cash surrender value of TEEEEBAZRBAORE
key management life insurance BRREBZH
contracts 24
Exchange differences E & =% (358)
At end of the year FR 6,563
(ii) As at 31 March 2020, prepayments to sellers for auctioned (i) 72020%3A31H MO HAETEM B M
artwork represent the amounts advanced to sellers of EXREMNONBEERBEMBENTER
artwork of HK$79,687,000 (2019: Nil). Amounts may be Z & % /579,687,000 7T (20194 :
advanced to sellers prior to receiving full payment of the B)o 2B AW HBERBH I
auction purchase prices from the relevant buyers and the HEEEENARENENTER  MA
Group will keep the related auctioned artwork under its EBRBREEBHIEEMNMBARETS -
custody. As at 31 March 2020, such prepayments were H2020FE3H31H - EEEMNREAE R
interest-free and the respective auctioned artwork was kept BREBEHEENMAEREEAER
under the Group's custody. =

24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 24 EFBTEN%RE4RESZ

CASH EQUIVALENTS B

Pledge bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank BRI R S5 10 T 4R/ T A BB T
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group. NEE—PIRITRVEMTEER © 5,443,00055
Deposits amounting to HK$5,443,000 (2019: 7T (20194F : 20,300,000%70) HIFZHE
HK$20,300,000) have been pledged to secure short-term IS BRI TE SR IE R - A5 8
bank borrowings, and are therefore classified as current BREVEE (K27) o

assets (Note 27).

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS 17
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24 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 24 EiRBSBITESRBEESRESE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) B4 (=)
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash and short-term RekReFEWERSRRIBAR
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months “EARERKERAMNEHRITFER
or less.
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHERT FET
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFERS 82,577 235,079
Deposits with maturity less than 3@ A R EE 75 K
3 months 1,443
Total cash and cash equivalents RekBeEFEMHERE 236,522
The carrying amounts of the pledged bank deposits and EERRTEREReEREEEYH
cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the FREIEN T EEBEE :
following currencies:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ BT 50,496 163,729
JPY H 25,134 81,346
usD ETT 11,959 10,914
RMB AR 350 827
Others Hth 81 6
256,822
As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s bank balances of 2019438318  "REBMRITERY
approximately HK$273,000 were deposited with a bank in 273,000 TE R P E —RRT - %
the PRC. The remittance of these funds out of the PRC is EEcELPRABETHEBNEMZ
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange SNEE B il 7 Bl KO #R o 202053 A31

control promulgated by the PRC government. There was B WHEMABESER -
no such balance as at 31 March 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY &

25 XK

Number of shares

B3 & H

Share capital

(&3

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Ordinary shares

Issued and fully paid:
As 1 April 2019 and 2018

Bonus issue (Note (i))

Issuance of ordinary shares
relating to initial public
offering, net of underwriting
commissions and other
issuance costs (Note (ii))

Conversion of convertible notes
to ordinary shares (Note (iii))

LTAER
ERITRHR
20194 &
201854818 500,000,000 100 169,730
AT A% 2 17 (B 3EG)) — | 374,967,178 — —

MERARABEERT
T E A - TR R
& REMEEITHAR
(B 3 Gii) )

96,520,000 127,004

HRAAREEAER

A& (B &Gl ) 28,512,722

As 31 March 2020 and 2019 #2020E &
2019%3A31H 500,000,000 500,000,000 169,730
Notes: MfzE -
(i) On 11 October 2018, a bonus issue of 374,967,178 shares @ 2018510118 - RARIAY LW

were allotted to Mr. Ando Shokei upon successful listing of

the Company.

(i) In October 2018, the Company issued 96,520,000 ordinary
shares at HK$1.50 per share, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$144,780,000. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 11
proceeds, net of underwriting commissions and other
issuance costs, are capitalised as share capital accordingly.

) 2 B A o AR 1T AT IR B 7T -
374,967,178R & 17 °

I e

(i)  72018F108 * KR AR T K1.508 7T
#51796,520,000f8 L@ A% - EE TSR
T8 48 5 #9144,780,0005 7T © AN 2 AIR% 17
R2018F10ANMEREBE BB ERSATA
BRARIEREM - B RIBAERE (B
BREHEAe REMBEITRRN)RILERET
B o

October 2018. The gross
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ey

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole director of the
Company dated 24 April 2018, the Company entered into
agreements with six independent investors in relation to
their subscriptions of the Company’s convertible notes
totaling approximately HK$38,800,000. The outstanding
principal
automatically and mandatorily converted into fully paid
shares of the Company upon successful initial public
offering in recognised stock exchange according to a
formula prescribed in the subscription agreements. The

amount of these convertible notes shall be

convertible notes bear interest at 1% per annum. The
convertible notes will mature upon 12 months from the
date of the subscription, subject to mutual agreement
between the independent investors and the Company to
extend for a further 12-month period. If the initial public
offering does not take place before the maturity date, the
Company shall redeem the outstanding amount of the
convertible notes with additional interest of 7% per
annum. The Company may redeem all of the outstanding
principal amount of the convertible notes with terms set
out in the subscription agreements on or at any time after
31 December 2018 until the maturity date.

All of the convertible notes were converted into
28,512,722 ordinary shares on 11 October 2018. The
principal amount of convertible notes and the cumulative
changes in fair value are capitalised as share capital
accordingly.

e ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BYaE (&)

(iii)

R i% H B A£2018F4H248 2 AN 1A 7 ME
—EENEAARABER  ARAEASEE
MIEBER LR AR BRESRE
N R T A £ 4938,800,0005 T &Y A #2 AR
ER - -ZEFITRREBNAEELRESE
BRRAUBEHERZ KRN E R AREE
% BERBEBEMEEAXNE S KA
HlEER AR QBT R D - JRKREE
IANEFEI1%E - TR ER B ER
BAHHRI2EAREE  THBLEE
ERARBERABELERZ12(E A © 1
BRARBEELENE B A#ET &
AEAELAMBREEOREESTE -
SIMEF EABT%HF B - N2 8 A A
1E2018F 12 A31 8 & A k2 18 M) (E (7] B
MEZIHBEBHME  ZREH RO
BREEMEARREBRNREERS
B o

R2018%F 108118 » FT A Al ik = ik 88
1 528,512,7228% L@ A% - Al AR B iR
MASCHENZAAFELB B E TS
N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB SRR B
26 RESERVES 26 f#iE
Other reserves
Hib k&
Merger Currency
reserves translation Retained
(Note (i)) differences Sub-total earnings Total
B EE MESIRE
(BHEE(@)) E8 Nt RERF st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET FERT FTERT TET

At 1 April 2018 12018%4H18 (38,358) (7,023) (45,381) 149,050 103,669
Profit for the year FERF — - - 8,632 8,632
Currency translation differences INEMEEE — (1,745) (1,745) — (1,745)
At 31 March 2019 $2019%3A318H (38,358) (8,768) (47,126) 157,682 110,556

Balance as at 1 April 2019, as 1220194818 B & ¢

originally presented (REZ35) (38,358) (8,768) (47,126) 157,682 110,556
Change of accounting policy SRR EE (2.2)
(Note 2.2) (526) (526)
At 1 April 2019, as restated 120194818 (EEF)) (38,358) (8.768) (47,126) 157,156 110,030
Profit for the year FEHEF 8,444 8,444
Currency translation differences INEMEEE = 977
Transaction with non-controlling  JEIRfREH X 5
interest (Note (ii) (EE=AD)) 728 728
Final dividend declared and paid BB R & HRHEE (10,000) (10,000)
At 31 March 2020 $2020%3H31H (38,358) (46,149) 156,328 110,179
Notes: B 5
(i) The consolidation difference that arises under merger (i) (EHRBEITREEAHISHETEL
accounting is included as “merger reserve”, and computed WEHZEE DBEREREMREMGH
by comparing the considerations paid and the share capital AREENHBRARKRAMETE -

of the subsidiaries that merged into the Group.
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26 RESERVES (Continued) 26 ftfs (&)
Notes: (Continued) Bzt : (&)
(ii) Transaction with non-controlling interests (i) HEIEERERRTS

176

On 17 June 2019, the Group acquired an additional 3%
of the issued shares of TCA Japan for HK$1,520,000. The
Group recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$2,248,000 and an increase in equity attributable to
owners of the parent of HK$728,000. The effect on the
equity attributable to the owners of Company during the
year is summarised as follows:

12019968178 » 7 & [E 141,520,000
BT U ETCAEH NB BN % B B 1T A%
MeAREEBBRAFEERERZ R D
2,248,000 T M &I AR B AFE(G R
# 1N728,0008 7T e N A Al AR A EA(L
BmZERMMT

2020
20204F
HK$'000
FHET

Carrying amount of non-controlling EUWEIF R E R 2 BREE
interests acquired

Consideration paid to non-controlling EMFEERERIN ZRE
interests

Gain recognised in the transactions with ~ EIFIEREFZZ FHH
non-controlling interests R

There were no transactions with non-controlling interests
in 2019.
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27 BORROWINGS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY &

27 =%

Non-current 13580
Bank borrowings (Note (a)) RITE K (M 5E@))
Other borrowings H A 18 5K

Current i Eh
Bank borrowings (Note (a)) RATIE R (@)
Other borrowings H b 18 3K
Total borrowings FER =N
(a) Bank borrowings (a)

As at 31 March 2020, the bank borrowings of
approximately HK$26,538,000 are denominated in
JPY and of approximately HK$12,217,000 are
denominated in HKD respectively. As at 31 March
2019, all the bank borrowings are denominated in
JPY.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings
amounting to HK$7,210,000 were guaranteed by
personal guarantee from Mr. Ando, while bank
borrowings amounting to HK$12,217,000 were
subjected to corporate guarantee provided by a
subsidiary.

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS

2020
20204
HK$'000
FHET

2019
20194
HK$'000
F&T

2,603
359

2,962

32,439
422

32,861

35,823

SRITIER

72202093 A318 + #26,538,000%
7T M #912,217,000% JTER 1T & K »
RIA BB RBITEE © 7201963 A
318 - MBRITERABEGE -

20206F3A31H ASES®BA
7,210,000 7T 8 R 17 18 X &k &
EEEHEAERAER MeE
#12,217,0007% 7T #) 4R 17 f& 3K Bl |
—FNE QR RER R RIERTE
R o
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued)

178

(a)

Bank borrowings (Continued)

During the financial year of 2019, the Group’s
banking facilities were guaranteed by (i) personal
guarantees from Mr. Ando, (ii) corporate guarantee
from a related party, and (iii) third party corporate
guarantee. The personal guarantees provided by the
Group’s director were released in April and May
2018. Corporate guarantee provided by a related
company and third party corporate were released in
May 2018, May 2018 and April 2018 respectively.

These facilities are secured by certain bank deposits
with an aggregate amount of HK$5,433,000 (2019:
HK$20,300,000) (Note 24 and 34).

The effective interest rates of bank borrowings as at
31 March 2020 were 0.52% to 4.12% per annum
(2019: 0.3% to 0.8% per annum).

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of bank
borrowings approximated their carrying amounts
(2019: same).

The Group’s bank borrowings are repayable as
follows:

27 X (E)

(a)

Within 1 year —F A
Between 1 and 2 years —FEWMENA
Between 2 and 5 years MEERFA

TOKYO CHUO AUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2020

RITHBM(E)

R2019FMHRER - XEERR
TRERNTBLEELNREAEL
R (@B ELRHARER: &
(NE=AFREERFAER - AARE
BEEZREMREAZRKRR2018F4A4
&5 ARG - ARERMBREE AR R
F=FAAEIEME - ESRIN2018%5
A~ 2018458 % 201854 AfEkk -

7% @ & B 4258 A5,433,00008 7T
(20194 : 20,300,000/ 7T) H) & T
RITIE R AEE IR (M sE24%34) -

202043A318  RITEZNE
o F| R B0.52%%4.12% (2019
F . GE03%E0.8%) °

MN202053A318  SRITE XM A
FTEEEREEHESE(019F : 15
SRR °

AEBERERNRITERWAT :

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET TAT
38,655 32,439
100 2,403

= 200
35,042




28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

ACCRUALS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY A

28 BEHRHEMEMRERESER

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Trade payables B 5 N RIE 5,467
Payables to sellers in respect of ERNERME RABEEB
auction and related business I8 145,484 197,526
Deposits received, other payables RS - HMENRIER
and accruals JEETE 9,162 17,192
154,646 220,185
Less: Non-current portion: B IEMENFR D -
— Other payables — H fh fE {4 518 (1,454) (6,884)
Current portion Tt E AR 153,192 213,301

Payables to sellers in respect of auction and related
business represent the purchase price of auction articles
payable to sellers less seller commissions and other
auction related receivable.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, all financial trade and
other payables of the Group were non-interest bearing,
and their fair value approximate to their carrying amounts
due to their short maturities.

As at 31 March 2020, the non-current other payable
represented the Group’s obligation to pay the
reinstatement costs to the landlords of the offices in
Hong Kong and Japan, which was expected to be settled
at the end of the leases.

As at 31 March 2019, the non-current other payable
mainly represents the Group’s obligation to pay for the
employee benefits of a director of the Group, which was
expected to be settled after 12 months from the balance
sheet date.

Such employee benefits were settled during the vyear
ended 31 March 2020 upon early termination of the
related key management life insurance contract.

BNEXAEMBBESRAERNE
RNEmMBEERERMENEMAE
H R M R -

720204 20193 A31H - A& B A
TRESMNEMENREAEALE - MHA
REEFINHARE A REAFER
mEREEMRS -

R20204F3A310 © JER B E th & 4 5K IR
BEAEEREBERBARERET N
BERERANEE BHESREESARE
B

R2019%3A310 © JER B E fth & 4 5K
ITERAKERAEEEENERR
MEOEE HSREHRNEERRI12EAR
‘&L -

RIBEREEBITEEEEASREBA
#i& - BHEEB R NEE20209F3A31
BIEFEEE&EN-
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BB RERN
28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 28 BESRHEMEMRERETER
ACCRUALS (Continued) (%)
The Group’s trade and other payables and accruals are AEEBGREMENKERETER
denominated in the following currencies: INTHE8BEHE
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
HK$ BT 126,593 89,794
JPY H 27,922 130,391
Others Hth 131 —
154,646 220,185
As at 31 March 2020, the ageing analysis of the trade M2020F3H31H - EREZHHNE S
payables based on invoice date are as follows: ERRIENREDFAOT :
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Within 30 days 30K A 5,467
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29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 29 ‘RENEISHEMIA

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET

Financial assets at amortised cost REERAVENEREE

— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMEWFIE 232,899 225,367
— Prepayments to sellers for — BEHEZ MMM

auctioned artwork BRI 2 HIEA 79,687 —
— Deposits —%e 4,412 11,096
— Pledged bank deposits — BEFRITER 5,443 20,300
— Cash and cash equivalents — BeRkREEEY 82,577 236,522

405,018 493,285

Financial liabilities at amortised cost JZ# K AFIBEHN SR 8 &

— Trade and other payables — B 5 KA MENKIE 154,646 217,199
— Borrowings — B 39,113 35,823
— Lease liabilities —HE&E 22,979 —

216,738 253,022
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30 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to
net cash (used in)/generated from operations:

182

(a)

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

— Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

— Amortisation of intangible
assets

— Depreciation of Right-of-use
assets

— Share of net profit of
associate accounted for
using the equity method

— Gain on termination of key
management life insurance
contracts

— Changes in cash surrender
values of key management
life insurance contracts

— Changes in fair value of
convertible notes

— Change in fair value of
financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

— Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
(Note 30(b))

— Interest income

— Interest expenses

— Net impairment losses on
financial assets

— Gain on termination of lease

Changes in working capital:

— Inventories

— Trade and other receivables

— Deposits and prepayments

— Trade and other payables
and accruals

B P 15 B A1t A
AT SHAE
—VE BERREINE

— B EE#H
— EREEENE

— BiE—RBE Qa2
Ao EREREERHAYIR

— RIFT2EEEASRR
Rk &

— IREHEASRRAD
ReRREEEY

— THRBREATES
— BATEFARR

— HEVE  BEREREES
18 (M 5£30(b) )

— FBWKA
— MERX
— SREEREERFR

— TR B

S TEL TN

—

— ® 5 REMERKE

— & RN OB

— B 5 REM A RE
B

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

rmeEEB (AR MERe
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30 EHIRERERMEE

R BT 1% %1 A it F B AE 2 5 RS (P
B,/ FREEFHEIHRK:

2020
20204
HK$’000
FHET

10,461

3,050

62

(2,195)
1,447

3,789
Q)]
(32,960)
(10,352)
(76,333)

(58,331)

(155,151)

2019
20194
HK$'000
TATT

15,298

2,727

62

98
(582)
272

1,194

2,152
197,097
(10,015)

(169,470)

42,916




30 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows,
proceeds from disposal of properties, plant

and equipment comprise:

(b)

Net book amount

Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment

RmFE

HEME BERREERE

Proceeds from disposal

Debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of the movements
in total debt for the year ended 31 March 2020.

(c)

Borrowings — repayable B —ER—FRNEE
within one year

Borrowings — repayable after & — AR —F&EE
one year

Total debt (EREE=

Gross debt — fixed interest

BER — BEMEX

rates

Gross debt — variable interest #2{&#% — FEFI X
rates

Total debt BEE

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS
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30 SHBERRBERME(E)

REHBHERERD  LEY
¥ BERBBEHFHERERE :

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET
98
(98)
B ZHER
7N 86 7I # 2202034310 1F £
EHNEBRBEEH DN -
2020 2019
2020%F 20194
HK$"000 HK$'000
Tt FET
38,927 32,861
186 2,962
39,113 35,823
781
35,042
35,823
183
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30 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 30 SRS RERMEZE
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Debt reconciliation (Continued) () BEBZHEKRE)

Liabilities from financing activities

KEREEDAR
Borrowings  Borrowings Lease Lease
due within due after liabilities due liabilities due
1 year 1year within 1year after 1 year Total

MER MES RER MES

) ) £ i ) ) £ i
£ S HEaR HEaR @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER FET THER TR

Total debt as at 1 April 2018 R2018E4R 1B B R EHE 44,439 4,886 - - 49,325
Cash flows BemE (12,285) 24 - - (12,261)
Reclassification ENNE 1,820 (1,820) — — —
Foreign exchange adjustments HME R B (1,113) (128) — — (1,241)
Total debt as at 31 March 2019 R20196E3A31B M EHEE 32,861 2,962 - - 35,823
Adoption of HKFRS 16 RRBEMBREER

5165 - — 6,451 22,722 29,173
Total debt as at 1 April 2019 R201954R 1B B AE 2,962 6,451
Cash flows Reng (1,298) (7,525)
Acquisition-leases WE-HE - 966
Termination-leases RI—HE = (49) (673)
Interest cost FERA — 170 542
Reclassification ENAE (1,470) 6,841 ((F:15))
Foreign exchange adjustments MNERE (6] @) (1)

Total debt as at 31 March 2020 12020F3A31 B B BT B EE 16,129
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY A

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 31 HHHERKR
As at 31 March 2020, the Company's subsidiary had given F20206F3A318 AR & & B A A
guarantees totalling approximately HK$18,500,000 (2019: ERBETFTARRIMIBITRE R EHEE
Nil) to financial institutions in connection with the fEHH & #£4918,500,000% 7T (2019%F : &)
banking facilities granted to the Company. B LR o
As at 31 March 2019, the Company had given guarantees M201953A31H AR AIEREMER
totaling approximately HK$20,300,000 to financial RIERAIRITRERMES $£4£20,300,000
institutions in connection with the banking facilities BILHERT S mE -
granted to its subsidiary.
COMMITMENTS 32 i
The Group leases various carpark and office warehouses AEERBIAHELALHEREZ @
and office under non-cancellable operating leases expiring FEIGABAEEERKAE  HHEZF
within 3 years. The leases have renewal rights. On NEm ZEHNERFEEE RNERE
renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. B ATEFERMEE-
From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use 20194 A1R - AKERZEHEE
assets for these leases, except for short-term and low- REAEEE  BEHREEEHESERN
value leases, see Note 2.2 and Note 16 for further HE—HER B2 2K 516 -
information.
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
No later than 1 year TEME 7,715
Later than 1 year and no later B EETER2E
than 2 years 5,377
Later than 2 year but not later BR2F BT BNSF
than 5 years —
13,092
RRRREARBARAT  B-BEFEHE 185
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33 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

At

the end of the reporting period, the Group has

pledged the following assets to secure certain borrowings
granted to the Group:

33 ERHAERIMEE

RBEHMR AEEBERTINEEMA
ERETETASEMNER:

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Pledged bank deposits B BRITER 5,443 20,300
5,443 20,300
34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BBt AR S
(a) Names and relationships with related parties (a) FABEH &HEREARF

186

Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant
influence over the other party in holding power over
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect
the amount of the investor’s returns. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control.
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The following individuals and companies are related
parties of the Group that had balances and/or
transactions with the Group during the year ended

31 March 2020.

Name of related parties

MBS &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OF 75 R B R

5

Relationship with the Group
EAREERAEZ

IWTALTRRRAEKRE B B
7o R & E 22020638318 1k
FEEAEBEEHRE HETT

Mr. Ando Shokei

Controlling Shareholder

RO AR & P2 IR AR R
Mrs. Ando Eri Controlling Shareholder
THEBEL LT IR AR R
Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. Controlled by Mr. Ando Shokei
MAEGHE B FR &k M A 5T AR 1
Mr. Katsu Bunkai Executive director
B8 %EE HITES
Mr. Sun Hongyue Executive director
BB AXE WITES
Mr. Yau Chung Hang (Note (i)) Executive director
BB {70 H7 5% A (B EE(0) ) HITES
Mr. Yang Yi Chung (Note (ii)) Non-executive director
15 #E 58 % A4 (B E i) ) FHITES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John Independent non-executive dire
2B 5E A BYFRITES
Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley Independent non-executive dire
MORIT 22+ BUFNTES
Mr. Chun Chi Man Independent non-executive dire
TaR%E BYFRITES
Notes: B &
(i) Mr. Yau has resigned as the Company’s executive (i)
director with effect from 13 September 2019.
(i) Mr. Yang has resigned as the Company's non- (ii)

executive director with effect from 14 May 2019.

ctor

ctor

ctor

T TEFER

p==3
=]

MEEEBEITARRRMITES -
FH2019F9 A 13 #E A &K »

BAECEBHIARARERATE
£ H2019F5 148 B »
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B R RM
34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34 BABEA RS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HEABEHFEIRXS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the notes bR & OF B B = IO sE E M 30 9 P 3%
to the consolidated financial statement, the Group BEIN ANEEEEBRI 2S5
had the following transactions with related parties: N
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Auction commissions from a JEWEE T RERS
related party
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. —H®AgLEB 189
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — BB/AEXE 134
Agency commissions charged AR WA 2
by a related party
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd. — KA gHEB 65

188

Rental expanses to a
related party
— Bai Sheng Co., Ltd.

— KA EH BB

7] B st 07 > 1 #9 FE 2 B X2

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's bank facilities
amounting to HK$7,210,000 were guaranteed by
personal guarantee from Mr. Ando.

During the financial year of 2019, the Group’s
banking facilities were guaranteed by (i) personal
guarantees from Mr. Ando, (ii) corporate guarantee
from a related party, and (iii) third party corporate
guarantee. The personal guarantees provided by the
Group's director were released in April and May
2018. Corporate guarantee provided by a related
company and third party corporate were released in
May 2018, May 2018 and April 2018 respectively.

All the related party transactions were conducted in
accordance with terms mutually agreed with related
parties and in the ordinary course of business.
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34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) Key management compensation
Key management includes directors and top
management. The compensation paid or payable to
key management for employee services is shown

34

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& OF B 15 R MY &

Bt AR B (E)

() EEEEEFHM
TEEHERREENRSER
B-siEERFMENKENER
EEENFHMINRET

below:

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Wages, salaries and bonus ITE& % kiEi 17,790 16,803
Pensions RIKE 670 641

Staff welfare and other & 8 @F & E 4z
benefits 22 845
18,289

35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 35 FERxHESTE

The Group has adopted the share option scheme on
13 September 2018 under which certain selected classes
of participants (including, among others, full-time
employees) may be granted options to subscribe for the
new shares. As of the date of this report, no share
options have been granted under the scheme.

7N & B 7R2018F9 A 130 4R 4% s Ak #E &1
gl ETEBERNIN2EE (B
TEREBERSS) JERTREBRENR
B - BHEARSE BE - BIEREZET
89X A ] BB A o
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36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

190

OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company

36 FATEEARRRHER

XABEERMF/E

2020

20204

Note HK$000
B 5 FHET

47,548
1,024
12,746
203
953

62,474

2,279
10,175
147,874
4,000
27,588

191,916

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B A RKRE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % - BB M & &
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Deferred tax assets BEXERIEEE
Deposits and prepayments Ee RIBAHKIE
Current assets RBEE
Inventories BB

Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b W F IR
Deposits and prepayments e kBN FHIE
Amount due from subsidiaries JE W B B & R R IE
Pledged bank deposits EHEBRITER
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFCEEY
Total assets HEE

254,390
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2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET

1,600
9,064
10,506
23,811
20,300
126,156

191,437

240,527
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36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 36 A A TSIZEEBRBRREBEEE
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Balance sheet of the Company (Continued)

(&)

XABNEEEBRR(E)

2020
20204
Note HK$'000
B 5 F#IT
Equity e
Equity attributable to AASHEBANEGER
owners of the Company
Share capital i@ 169,730
Reserves & 36(a) 49,379
Total equity gL 219,109
Liabilities BfE
Non-current liabilities EREERE
Other payable H i &~ 3R IB
Lease liabilities HEaE
Borrowings EEN
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals Hh B FRIE K
EEtE M 3,254
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE B B A B FA 5,391
Lease liabilities HERE 3,602
Borrowings f& 3 12,231
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHRaRE =
24,478
Total liabilities BEEHE 35,281
Total equity and liabilities EZREBEESE 254,390

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and was signed on its

behalf.

Ando Shokei
ZRRRE
Director

EZ

Ando Eri
RRERE

Director

EF

2019
20194
HK$'000
TET

169,730
60,430

230,160

14

4,705
5,391
170
87

10,353

10,367

240,527

ARAREERBREHAESEMN20205F
6H26AM AL A TIETHEREE -
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36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

192

(a)

36 FABIEEARRRMHERD

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) (%)
Reserve movement of the Company (a) AATIfEHEES

Retained
earnings
REEF
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2018 $:2018%4A1H 80,975
Loss for the year FEBE (20,545)
At 31 March 2019 $2019%3H31H 60,430

At 1 April 2019, as 2201954818 (REE5)
originally presented 60,430
Change of accounting policy SRR E S (506)
At 1 April 2019 (Restated) #2019F4R18 (L E7F) 59,924
Dividend declared BEEIKEE (10,000)
Loss for the year FEEE (545)
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37 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 37 EEEARAE
(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments () ESRERETHASHM
The remuneration of each director of the Company & £20204F K%201993A318 It &
paid/payable by the Group for the years ended B AEBER BEBNARARESE
31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out as follows: EMNHMEIN AT
Pension,
medical
insurance,
other social
Salaries, insurances
Director’s wages and and other
For the year ended fee bonuses benefits
BHhE-
BEERE
e HOHSRE
BEUTEHILEEE ESFHe IZRftA4 REMERN st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
31 March 2020 2020%3A31H
Executive directors WITES
— Mr. Ando — REERE
— Mrs. Ando Eri — LHERE
7+
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai — BXBEAE
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — EBR%E
— Mr. Yau Chung Hang — EBPHT S A&
(Note (ii)) (B 3 Gii) )
Non-executive directors FHITES
— Mr. Yang Yi Chung — GHE A
(Note (i) (Bt EG)) a1
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — ERH L
John 240
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley — MR R L 240
— Mr. Chun Chi Man — RAREE 240

14,492 15,696
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37 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

194

37 EFEEMRF=(E)

(Continued)
Directors and chief executive’s emoluments EERRSTTBASHMZ)
(Continued)
Pension,
medical
insurance,
other social
Salaries, insurances
Director’s wages and and other
For the year ended fee bonuses benefits Total
BRE
BEERR -
Fe HtudgRE
HEATHHILEFE E50E T & RIEA & H b 18 F FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
31 March 2019 2019%3HA31H
Executive directors HITES
— Mr. Ando — THERE — 7,879 946 8,825
— Mrs. Ando Eri — ZTEHERE
fegun — 2,748 17 2,865
— Mr. Katsu Bunkai — BEXERE — 998 108 1,106
— Mr. Sun Hongyue — BIE R RAE — 1,512 149 1,661
— Mr. Yau Chung Hang — B HT e A
(Note (ii) (B 3£ Giy ) 120 1,341 18 1,479
Non-executive directors FRITESR
— Mr. Yang Yi Chung — BB L
(Note (i) (Bt EEG)) 120 — — 120
— Mr. Chung Kwok Mo — @R L E
John 120 — — 120
— Ms. Lam Suk Ling Shirley — MRIZ A+ 120 — — 120
— Mr. Chun Chi Man — FER%AE 120 — — 120
600 14,478 1,338 16,416

The remuneration shown above represents
remuneration paid and payable by the Group for
these directors in their capacity as employees to the
Group and/or in their capacity as directors of the
Company during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019. No directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Yang has resigned as the Company’'s non-
executive director with effect from 14 May 2019.

(ii) Mr. Yau has resigned as the Company’s executive
director with effect from 13 September 2019.
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37 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no
retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking (2019:
Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation
for early termination of the appointment during the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to third parties for making
available directors’ services during the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 34, there are no other
loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

There are no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

EERARHEERARAFA B _FEFERS

37

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR R M AT

ESEEMNRME(E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

EFEAKEA

B Z2020F3A31B IEEE > £
EEVUAREEARAR A BB REK
BARIEBFTIRE 8 B A AR TS M
3% & W BR {E ] 3R K 48 F1 (2019
FIE)

EFEHEREN

B E202083A31BHLLEE - T &
MESEHEMNRIERRELRL
ZENMHEE (20195 1 &) o

BREEERBOBZ=HEFB
K&

B E202083A31HILLEE T &
RRERBRESREME=SELHEM
FFR (20194 @ &) -

FARUES FHRESNTIEZE
EREAFAESEFAENEEAT
DANER EERERHEMBLRS
Y & £

B BT 5E34PT 4 55 & SN - B E=20204F
3AMALGE  WENES - FH
ESNXE LB REAHRESTHE
MERBASSANEMER  £H
HEEMR S (2019F : &) -

ESENXS REFESHHEKX
i
K 8 & 220209638318 It
EREMERA - NAFMESE
AP RARREBMARAES
EESHECEARAEAEZ Y
ERG LHREHQ019F :
) o
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEMBHBE

Zl-‘%@b%iﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ?fﬁiﬁZ%%M&%F
BEEFZEREANE  HEAETELRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial

years, as extracted from the published audited financial Bf# 3Rk °
statements.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MBERE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
2016%F 20174 20184 20194 20204
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 | ill€3ii]
FHET FHET FHE T FHET FHT
Revenue Y 25 138,613 148,048 173,266 166,091 107,589
Gross profit E 7 97,296 107,168 132,319 126,181 75,937
Profit before income tax F P 15 150 Al & A 30,223 41,004 57,982 15,298 10,461
Profit attributable to ViN/NISTE R =N
owners of the Company FE A % 18,497 30,780 44,063 8,632 8,444
Total assets mEE 316,165 374,060 570,336 551,003 | L3k
Total liabilities Eﬁ%@ 241,090 266,325 459,927 264,115 | rrkiikl]
Net Assets BEFH 75,075 107,735 110,409 286,888 | skiiilae
Equity attributable to: AN AT M.
%
— Equity shareholders of ~ — AN A
the Company P& = 67,267 98,307 103,669 280,286 | yilcll
— Non-controlling — TR
interests 7,808 9,428 6,740 6,602 4,160
75,075 107,735 110,409 286,888 | ~hliil:]
Gross profit margin' EXIES 70.2% 72.4% 76.4% 76.0% 70.6%
Net profit margin? ) 22 13.3% 20.8% 25.4% 5.2% 7.8%
Current ratio? 7t B b 33 1.28 1.39 1.21 2.10 2.24
Net debt to equity ratio® FBMEEARLLES  Net Cash  Net Cash  Net Cash  Net Cash |\[5a 1)
ReFE ReFHE ReFHE ReFH kal

Gross profit margin is calculated by dividing gross profit by '

revenue.

Net profit margin is calculated by dividing profit attributable to 2

owners of the Company by revenue.

current liabilities.

196

Current ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets by total 3

Net debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing interest-bearing  #
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents by total equity.

/r/v/Eﬁ

=5 /E
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